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The environment we are working in is one of high 
profile requiring us to meet expectations of health 
ministers and other stakeholders. 

Last year I spoke to AMC’s maturity as a high func-
tioning, well respected service organisation and as 
a respected leader in its field, with a positive track 
record of providing solutions. Over the year this has 
included:

•	 Leadership of several recommendations from 
the Independent Review of Overseas Health 
Practitioner Regulatory Settings (Kruk Review) 
identified as a priority for health ministers 
including development of the qualifications assess-
ment framework for an expedited pathway for 
Specialist IMGs to achieve registration in Australia 

•	 Facilitated development of a Communication 
Protocol between Specialist Medical Colleges, 
accredited organisations and Health Departments 
forming part of Ministerial Policy Direction 2023-1 
– medical college accreditation of training sites 

•	 Working with specialist colleges and jurisdictions 
to address the recommendations of the National 
Health Practitioner Ombudsman’s (NHPO) Report 
into the accreditation of specialist training sites 

•	 Implemented the new framework for Continuing 
Professional Development (CPD) Homes 

•	 Collaboration with the National Health Practitioner 
Ombudsman on their Independent review of 
accreditation processes 

•	 Progressed development of the National e-port-
folio to support implementation of the National 
Framework for Prevocational Medical Training, 
including finalising the procurement process and 
contracting MyKnowledgeMap Limited to develop 
and implement the program

•	 Establishment of the Cosmetic Surgery 
Accreditation Standards and Advisory Committee 

•	 Input to the National Medical Workforce Review 
through membership of the Medical Workforce 
Reform Advisory Committee and its successor.

We have also focussed on an increasingly full schedule 
of business as highlighted throughout this Annual 
Report. Embedding our shared sovereignty model 
of collaborative consultation and engagement with 
Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander and Māori 
stakeholders has added substantial value to our 
processes and decision-making, with the revised 
Medical School Standards being just one example of 
what we can achieve. 

We have been fortunate to be in a strong finan-
cial position as a result of increased revenues and 
improvements in financial markets. 

Pres ident ' s  Message

Professor Geoff McColl
President
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The AMC relies on the support of many people 
including clinicians, educators, health consumers, and 
Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander and Māori 
Peoples, who contribute their expertise to the AMC’s 
governance, accreditation, assessment, and strategic 
policy and research work. 

I’d like to acknowledge the work of everyone who has 
contributed their time and effort to the AMC over 
the year, some of whom are listed in the Committee 
reports, but many who are not. We appreciate the 
value of your contribution to the quality of the AMC’s 
work and to the communities we serve. 

I’d like to thank my fellow Directors, particularly 
Deputy President Dr Bruce Mugford who has decided 
not to stand again as a Director. Bruce has dedicated 
a decade to the AMC and has been a valuable contrib-
utor to the Finance, Audit and Risk Management 
Committee and the Investment Reserve Advisory 
Group. 

And I’d like to thank our CEO, Philip Pigou, and his 
team for ensuring the AMC continues to build its 
reputation of trust. 

The AMC Directors are acutely aware of the reputa-
tional and relationship impacts that high surpluses 
may have with our stakeholders.

However, our current situation has allowed the AMC to 
directly meet the additional costs of policy implemen-
tation without the need for additional government 
funding.

It has also allowed us to commence a program of 
system improvements to generate efficiencies and 
streamline internal processes. Directors are keen to 
ensure that AI is adequately resourced, and this is a 
key focus for the year ahead. 

Directors with Management will continue to consider 
the best use of the surplus funds to ensure these are 
in alignment with the AMC’s Objects, Strategy and 
Values. 

In 2025 the AMC will turn 40, having started as an 
incorporated association in 1985. We have this year 
commenced a review of the AMC’s Constitution and 
intend to have a thorough look at what has served us 
well and what changes we need to make to ensure we 
remain fit for purpose for the foreseeable future. 



At our full staff meeting in October 2024, I said the 
AMC is the best place I have ever worked. The reason 
for this is because our workplace, and our achieve-
ments, are a direct reflection of the commitment, 
capability, and dedication of all staff. 

Through diverse skills, knowledge, and experiences 
we have implemented several programs, built positive 
relationships with our stakeholders, and provided 
meaningful change for the community we serve. 

As is evident across this Annual Report, 2023/24 
has been an unprecedented year in terms of activity 
and all individual staff and teams have had to juggle 
workload to meet these extra demands. I want 
to acknowledge the work of each of our business 
areas: Assessment, Accreditation, ICT, Indigenous 
Policies and Programs, Strategic Policy and Research, 
Corporate Services, People and Culture, and 
Governance. 

As a service organisation, our staff, directors, 
members, committees, and everybody involved in 
our business are indispensable to the AMC’s success. 
Thank you. 

When I arrived at the AMC in 2018 there were three 
areas of staff development I wanted to focus on: lead-
ership, teamwork, and cultural safety.

Reflecting the importance of enhancing leadership, 
collaboration across business areas and fostering an 
improved understanding of the whole AMC, a restruc-
ture was implemented mid-year. Several new roles 
were created including a Chief Operating Officer to 
lead both Accreditation and Assessment, and a Chief 
Corporate Officer to lead Finance and Corporate 
Services. These changes are already providing syner-
gies across the business. 
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The culture we have cultivated at the AMC reflects 
our Values of Openness and accountability; Integrity; 
Collaboration; Cultural Safety, Striving for Excellence; 
and Innovation. 

Over the year we have reviewed our employment 
policies and have drafted a Code of Conduct, Cultural 
Safety Policy, and Anti-Racism Policy for implemen-
tation in late 2024. We adopted a Communication 
Charter and staff have increased their awareness 
of the importance of communication to the AMC’s 
culture and individual well-being. 

Our annual Staff Engagement Survey provides an 
opportunity for staff to voice their opinions, concerns 
and suggestions anonymously, fostering a culture of 
openness. The survey provides valuable insights to 
identify our strengths and areas for improvement and 
I personally find it invaluable in helping inform contin-
uing improvement to our culture, our processes and 
systems, leadership, and People & Culture practices.

This year we created a Staff Engagement Survey 
working group to consider the priorities identified in 
the survey and we have developed a framework for 
review and implementation.  

CEO’s  Forward

Philip Pigou
CEO
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In August the four LMDP teams presented to AMC 
Directors and senior staff on their topics covering 
culture at the AMC; process improvement; making 4MC 
more effective and efficient; and trust and trustworthi-
ness. This was followed by further discussion with the 
Executive Management team to work through imple-
menting the recommendations. 

Through investing in a diverse program of training 
and development, underpinned by shared values in 
our policies, we empower individuals and teams, and 
enhance the AMC’s capabilities. 

As I look ahead to our future challenges and opportuni-
ties, I remain grateful for every staff member’s contri-
bution and excited for the future of the AMC.

In 2024 we ran our second Leadership and 
Management Development Program. This program 
is a strong investment in leadership and teamwork, 
focussing on values, culture, building internal capa-
bility, empowering people, and meeting the business 
challenges we face.  

At the start of the program, I asked the participants 
to say one or two words about how they see the AMC. 
Their responses included: transforming, important, 
supportive, wellbeing, family, caring, complicated, 
proud, inclusive, and values-driven/integrity. My word 
was ‘you’, explaining that it is you that makes the AMC 
a successful organisation and a great place to work. 

It is pleasing to see our staff retention rate of 95% 
over 2023-24. Where we cannot provide roles for staff 
as they develop new skills, my plan is that we set them 
up for success for new career pathways wherever that 
may take them.  

A positive culture empowers staff to share their ideas, 
take risks, and innovate. By prioritising inclusivity, 
we ensure diverse perspectives are heard, ultimately 
strengthening our programs and initiatives. As we 
continue to grow, we remain committed to nurturing 
a culture that inspires excellence and enhances our 
collective purpose.



What we do
	} Develop accreditation standards for medical programs across all phases of 

medical education

	} Assess medical programs and their providers against the standards and 
accredit programs that meet these standards

	} Assess international medical graduates seeking registration to practise 
medicine in Australia

	} Assess authorities in other countries to ensure they meet the standards to be 
accepted as a competent authority

	} Ensure culturally safe practice to improve health outcomes for Aboriginal 
and/or Torres Strait Islander and Māori peoples

	} Work with government and state and territory regulatory authorities to 
improve the standards of medical education

	} Assess new medical specialties.
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About  the  AMC

The Australian Medical Council (AMC) is an inde-
pendent national standards body for medical 
education. Its purpose is to ensure that standards of 
education, training and assessment of the medical 
profession promote and protect the health of the 
Australian community. 

The AMC is appointed under the Health Practitioner 
Regulation National Law Act 2009 as the external 
accreditation authority for medicine. 

The AMC is a Company Limited by Guarantee and a 
registered charity. It is subject to the Corporations Act 
2001 and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Act 2012 and operates in accordance with 
its Constitution. 

The AMC is governed by its Directors and the 
Members of the Company. AMC Standing Committees 
and sub committees provide support and advice to the 
Directors and Council. 

The AMC Secretariat, based in Canberra and 
Melbourne, supports the functions of the AMC.

https://www.amc.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/AMC-Constitution.pdf
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Directors 
The AMC Directors comprise the President and Deputy 
President, three Member-elected Directors, and the 
Chairs of the five AMC Standing Committees. 

The powers and duties of the AMC Directors are 
set out in the AMC Constitution, the Corporations 
Act, and the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits 
Commission Act. 

AMC Directors determine the AMC’s strategic direc-
tion and oversee its business activities in pursuing the 
Objects of the AMC. This includes appointment of the 
CEO, approval of the AMC’s Strategic Plan, ensuring 
corporate governance compliance and good prac-
tice, promoting the AMC’s reputation and standing, 
financial oversight, and determining the direction and 
membership of AMC committees. 

Directors are advised by the AMC’s Finance, Audit and 
Risk Management (FARM) Committee, Investment 
Reserve Advisory Group (IRAG), and the five Standing 
Committees. The Directors meet regularly and have in 
place mechanisms for the conduct of special meetings 
and out of session decisions. 

Information on AMC Directors, including qualifica-
tions and special responsibilities, are detailed in the 
Financial Statements.
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High level governance structure 

Governance
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•	 the AMC reported to the Medical Board of Australia 
against the domains of the Quality Framework for 
Accreditation 

•	 the Audited Financial Report for the Year Ended 30 
June 2024 was approved 

•	 the 2023 Annual Information Statement was lodged 
with the ACNC

•	 the 2023 Annual Report was submitted to the ACNC 
and to Health Ministers as required under Article 
21.3 of the AMC’s Constitution

•	 the FARM Committee met four times, via zoom. 
The Committee advised Directors in its areas of 
responsibility including oversight of risk manage-
ment, compliance activities, financial reporting, 
budgets and audit

•	 Directors approved revised Terms of Reference for 
the FARM Committee which included the appoint-
ment of a Director as Chair and the appointment 
of an external member to provide financial, audit, 
risk management and compliance expertise and 
guidance to the Committee

•	 IRAG met four times via zoom, consulting with 
the AMC’s Investment Adviser and managing the 
investment reserves in line with the Policy and 
within its authorities

•	 Directors reviewed and approved the following 
governance Policies:

•	 Risk Management Policy and Framework

•	 Directors Delegation to the CEO Policy

•	 Payment of fees to AMC external contributors 
Policy

•	 Engagement of Directors as Consultants Policy

•	 Directors Conflicts of Interest Policy

•	 Investment Reserves Policy

•	 Whistleblower Policy

•	 Procurement Policy

•	 the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits 
Commission (ACNC) self-evaluation for charities 
was updated and reviewed to ensure that the AMC 
is meeting its obligations as a registered charity 

•	 the CEO’s annual performance review was 
undertaken

•	 Directors appointed a new Company Secretary 

•	 the ‘responsible persons’ register on the ACNC 
portal was updated to reflect current Director 
appointments and the appointment of the 
Company Secretary

•	 ASIC Banned and Disqualified Register checks were 
completed for all serving Directors

•	 all AMC Member positions were filled and registers 
maintained

•	 Directors made appointments to the Standing 
Committees 

•	 Directors approved the Terms of Reference for 
the Cosmetic Surgery Accreditation Advisory 
Committee and appointed Committee Members

Governance and compliance 

•	 Directors met nine times during the 2023/24 
financial year, with five of these held face-to-
face. Directors considered strategic, governance, 
finance, audit and risk matters, and received 
reports and recommendations from each of the 
Standing Committees

•	 the annual joint meeting of the Medical Board 
of Australia, the Australian Health Practitioner 
Regulation Agency ,and the AMC Directors was 
held via Zoom on 26 July 2023

•	 the Annual General Meeting was held in Canberra 
on 23 November 2023. The General Meeting was 
held in Brisbane on 17 May 2024, along with two 
site visits on 16 May

•	 Directors, the FARM Committee, and IRAG 
completed annual Performance Reviews in 
October 2023, developing action plans with the 
aims of achieving best practice and continuous 
improvement

•	 Directors established a working group to review 
the Directors and Committee Performance Review 
Policy and processes

•	 Directors attended a bespoke Investment 
Management and Governance Seminar 
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Finance, Audit and Risk 
Management Committee
The FARM Committee assists the AMC Directors to 
fulfil their corporate governance and oversight respon-
sibilities in relation to financial reporting, risk manage-
ment, internal controls, external audit and compliance 
with relevant laws, regulations and codes. 

Membership as at 30 June 2024

	~ Tom Symonds - Chair
	~ Professor Geoff McColl
	~ Dr Bruce Mugford
	~ Professor Elizabeth Rushbrook
	~ Kerry Philips (External Member)

Non-current Members serving during 2023-24:

	~Mr Don Cross (External Member and Chair)

Investment Policy Advisory Group 
IRAG oversees the prudent and efficient management 
of the AMC’s investment reserve as determined by the 
Investment Reserve Policy and AMC Directors. 

Membership as at 30 June 2024

	~ Dr Bruce Mugford, Chair
	~ Professor Robyn Langham AM 
	~ Associate Professor Andrew Singer AM
	~ Philip Pigou
	~ Grace Culpitt

Non-current Members serving during 2023-24:

	~ Nil

Constitutional Amendments
At the General Meeting on 17 May 2024, AMC 
Members approved a Special Resolution to amend the 
Constitution, comprising:

•	 2 Objects: with the AMC’s appointment to accredit 
CPD homes, Article 2 was amended to clarify that 
this activity is covered in the Constitution.

•	 4.2 Members: Two additional Member positions 
were included for international medical gradu-
ates (general pathway, and general or specialist 
pathway) under Article 4.2(a)(viii) and (ix).

The amended Constitution was lodged with the ACNC. 

Constitution Review Advisory 
Group
The Directors established a Constitutional Review 
Advisory Group to advise them on potential 
Constitutional changes to ensure the AMC’s govern-
ance and management procedures continue to be 
workable and sufficiently flexible to meet the objects 
of the AMC, to preserve the charitable status of the 
AMC, and to ensure the AMC meets all compliance 
requirements.  

A program of work has been established and the first 
meeting held in October 2024. 

Advisory Group Members:

	} Professor Geoff McColl (Chair), AMC President

	} Tom Symonds, Director, FARM Committee Chair, 
Assessment Committee Member

	} 	Dr Liz Rushbrook, Director, Aboriginal and/or Torres 
Strait Islander and Māori Committee Member

	} 	Professor Cheryl Jones, Director, Assessment 
Committee Chair

	} Professor Papaarangi Reid, AMC Member, 
Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander and Māori 
Committee Member

	} Dr Jacqueline Small, AMC Member

	} Kerry Phillips, FARM Committee Member

	} Philip Pigou, CEO

	} Theanne Walters, Deputy CEO, General Manager, 
Strategic Policy and Research

	} Angela Hagedorn, Company Secretary

	} Belinda Gibb, Director, Indigenous Policy and 
Programs

	} John Topfer, Legal Counsel
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AMC Ltd Members
The role of AMC Members is two-fold:

•	 Individual Members of a Company Limited 
by Guarantee with the roles and responsibil-
ities outlined in the AMC Constitution and 
Commonwealth Acts.

•	 A community of individuals bringing their views and 
experience as ambassadors of sectors or organ-
isations to provide input to the operations and 
strategic direction of the AMC.

Their responsibilities include electing the President 
and Deputy President and three of the Directors, 
shaping the AMC’s strategic direction and ensuring the 
AMC’s Constitution is fit for purpose. 

Members are appointed according to the catego-
ries defined in the Constitution, drawn from a wide 
cross-section of the groups associated with medical 
education, health delivery and with the standards of 
medical practice. The AMC aims for diversity of region, 
gender, ethnicity, experience and skill in its member-
ship. A list of Members and categories of membership 
is available on the AMC website.

The appointment of Members takes place at the AGM 
in November. Cultural safety in the appointment of 
AMC Members, Directors and Committee Members 
is a priority, with all selection panels including an 
Indigenous representative.

Non-current members and Directors serving 2023-24

	~ Dr Claire Blizard
	~ Dr Brian Fernandes
	~ Dr Kym Jenkins
	~ Dr Jonathan Newchurch
	~ Emeritus Professor David Prideaux* 
	~ Dr Daniel Zou

Council Members and Directors* as at 30 June 2024

	~ Dr Hashim Abdeen
	~ Dr Heather Buchan
	~ Dr Sarah Chalmers
	~ Professor Jane Dahlstrom OAM*
	~ Professor Shaun Ewen*
	~ Professor Kevin Forsyth
	~ Dr Tessa Ho
	~ Dr Cassandra Host
	~ Professor Lisa Jackson Pulver AM
	~ Professor Cheryl Jones*
	~ Dr Tammy Kimpton*
	~ Dr Omar Khorshid
	~ Professor Robyn Langham AM*
	~ Debra Letica
	~ Professor Geoff McColl*
	~ Associate Professor Nicole Mercer
	~ Dr Bruce Mugford*
	~ Professor Richard Murray
	~ Dr Shyamsundar Muthuralingam
	~ Professor Papaarangi Reid 
	~ Haseeb Riaz
	~ Dr Elizabeth Rushbrook CSC*
	~ Associate Professor Andrew Singer AM*
	~ Dr Jacqueline Small
	~ Dr Dianne Stephens OAM
	~ Tom Symonds*
	~ Dr Brittney Wicksteed
	~ Amanda Wilson AM

* AMC Director

President Professor Geoff McColl (l) 
acknowledging the contribution of  

Emeritus Professor David Prideaux (r)  
at the 2023 AGM 

https://www.amc.org.au/about-the-amc/directors-and-council/


Regional 3 (10%)
Metropolitan 25 (90%)

(no change)

ACT 
2

NSW 
6

QLD 
6

VIC 
3

TAS 
0

SA 
4

WA 
5

NT 
1

Māori 1 (4%)

Australia 27 (96%)
Aotearoa New Zealand 1 (4%)

(no change)

Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander:3 (11%)

Membership in WA and Qld increased 
by 1 while Vic and SA reduced by 1. 

(no change)

Aotearoa 
1 
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AMC Member Statistics
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4.2(a)(vi) One person who is at the time of their 
appointment, or who has recently been, a vocational 
trainee primarily working at an Australian hospital 
(registered under Part 7 of the Health Practitioner 
Regulation National Law by the Medical Board of 
Australia)

The AMC Directors appointed Dr Hashim (Hash) 
Abdeen as the Vocational Trainee for a term of four 
years (2023-2027). Dr Abdeen became a specialist 
Rheumatologist in January 2023, and at the time of 
appointment, was a first year Medical Administration 
Trainee. He is the trainee representative on SEAC 
and was the trainee team member on ACEM (2021) 
and ANZCA (2022) accreditation teams. He was also a 
Member of the AMC Working Party for the National 
Prevocational Framework 

4.2(a)(vii) One person who one person who is an 
Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander (registered 
under Part 7 of the Health Practitioner Regulation 
National Law by the Medical Board of Australia)

Dr Tammy Kimpton’s category of appointment was 
changed from 4.2(j) Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait 
Islander Member who has experience in Aboriginal 
and/or Torres Strait Islander health issues to 4.2(a(vi) 
Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander Registered 
Practitioner. This change was to allow the appointment 
of a Member who was not necessarily a registered 
medical practitioner under 4.2(j). Dr Kimpton is a GP. 
She is a Member of SEAC and of the Aboriginal and/or 
Torres Strait Islander and Māori Committee. 

•	 Dr Daniel Zou, Medical Student (2019-2021) Dr 
Zou served on MedSAC and on a number of AMC 
Accreditation teams.

Member Appointments 2023-24
4.2(a)(ii) One person nominated by the Council of 
Presidents of Medical Colleges.

The AMC Directors appointed Dr Jacqueline Small as 
a Member of Council for a term of four years (2023-
2027). Dr Small is a registered Medical Practitioner, 
and is the current President of the RACP and member 
of the Council of CPMC.

4.2(a)(iv) One person nominated by the 
Confederation of Postgraduate Medical Education 
Council (registered under Part 7 of the Health 
Practitioner Regulation National Law by the Medical 
Board of Australia)

The AMC Directors appointed Professor Kevin 
Forsyth as an AMC Member for a term of four years 
(2023-2027). Professor Forsyth is Emeritus Professor, 
Discipline of Paediatrics and Child Health, at Flinders 
University, and Presiding Chair, South Australian 
Medical Education and Training Health Advisory 
Council. Professor Forsyth was appointed CPMEC Chair 
in November 2023. 

Members Retiring 2023-24
The following members completed their terms on 
Council at the AMC AGM held on 24 November 2023. 
The AMC very much appreciates their contributions 
to the AMC; to ensuring that standards of education, 
training and assessment of the medical profession 
promote and protect the health of the Australian 
community.

•	 Dr Claire Blizard, CPMEC (2019-2023) Dr Blizard 
stepped down as President of the Confederation 
of Postgraduate Medical Education Council in 
November 2023 and resigned from her position as 
a Member of Council. Dr Blizard was a member of 
the AMC’s Medical Workforce Digital Capabilities 
Advisory Group, and of PreVAC

•	 Dr Brian Fernandes, Vocational Trainee (2019-2023) 
Dr Fernandes served as the Vocational Trainee 
Member of SEAC

•	 Dr Kym Jenkins, CPMC (2019-2023)

•	 Dr Jonathan Newchurch, Aboriginal and/or Torres 
Strait Islander Medical Practitioner (2019-2023) 
Dr Newchurch served as a Member of the AMC’s 
Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander and Māori 
Committee

•	 Emeritus Professor David Prideaux (2015-
2023). Professor Prideaux served as Chair of 
the Assessment Committee for two terms and, 
ex-officio, as a Director and Member of the AMC. 
Professor Prideaux served the AMC for nearly two 
decades across numerous Committees, working 
groups and other fora. He continues to contribute 
to the assessment functions in an advisory role
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4.2(j) one person who is an Aboriginal and/or Torres 
Strait Islander and who has experience in Aboriginal 
and/or Torres Strait Islander health issues.

The AMC Directors appointed Associate Professor 
Nicole Mercer for a four-year term (2023-2027). 
Associate Professor Mercer is Associate Head of 
School, Indigenous Strategy, in the School of Medicine, 
at Deakin University, and manager of the Indigenous 
Health Team. She is a Registered Nurse of 27 years 
and has worked across public and private hospitals in 
Melbourne as well as rural NSW.

4.2(l)/14.3 The Chair of the Assessment Committee 
(ex-officio Director)

The AMC Directors appointed Professor Cheryl Jones 
as Chair of the Assessment Committee and, ex-officio, 
a Director and Member of the AMC, for a term of four 
years (2023-2027). At the time of the appointment, 
Professor Jones was Dean and Head of Sydney Medical 
School, University of Sydney, moving to the role of 
Dean of Medicine & Health at UNSW in mid-2024. 
Professor Jones is also the Senior Staff Specialist, 
Infectious Diseases, at the Sydney Children’s Hospital 
Network (The Children’s at Westmead), and a Director, 
Ramsay Health Research Foundation. 

4.2(b) One person who is at the time of their 
appointment, or who has recently been, a medical 
student enrolled at an Australian or New Zealand 
medical school accredited by the Australian Medical 
Council.

The AMC Directors appointed Mr Haseeb Riaz as the 
Medical Student Member of Council for a term of two 
years (2023-2025). Dr Riaz is a third year MD student at 
the UWA School of Medicine. He has undertaken many 
advocacy roles, in particular through the Medical 
Students’ Council of WA on which he served as Deputy 
Chair, as well as the Australian Medical Students’ 
Association. 

4.2(g) one person with experience as a senior 
executive of an Australian public hospital

Dr Elizabeth Rushbrook CSC was appointed as a 
Member for a four year term in 2020. She was 
appointed as a Member-elected Director in November 
2022 for a term of two years. Dr Rushbrook was reap-
pointed as a Member for a further term of two years 
(2024-2026). Dr Rushbrook is the Chief Medical Officer 
at Metro North Health (Qld). Her AMC appointments 
include serving as one of the two Director represent-
atives on the Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander 
and Māori Committee (2023-); the Finance, Audit, 
Risk Management Committee (2022-); and the IMG 
Assessment Experiences and Performance Advisory 
Group. 

15.4/4.2(l) Specialist Education Accreditation 
Committee Chair

Directors reappointed Professor Robyn Langham AM 
as Chair of the Specialist Education Accreditation 
Committee for a second term of four years (2024-
2028). As Chair, Professor Langham is, ex-officio, a 
Director and Member of the AMC. Professor Langham 
has served on SEAC since 2014 (Member 2014, Deputy 
Chair 2019), is a Member of the AMC Investment 
Reserve Advisory Group (2022-), and has severed on 
several assessment teams. She is a Fellow of the Royal 
Australasian College of Physicians and is Chief Medical 
Adviser of the Therapeutic Goods Administration.
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•	 Programs showcasing the health equity journey 
that include medical staff (Deadly feed, Better 
together Medication Access, IROC, ICOP, Ngarrama 
Maternity Program)

•	 Opportunities created by National Workforce 
Plan, Kruk Review, AMC training standards Review: 
Medical school, PGY1&2 and vocational training, as 
well as IMG reform and CPD homes

General Meeting
The AMC’s mid-year General Meeting is held in various 
locations, including rural and regional Australia. This 
is preceded by site visits to meet with community 
members and local health and education bodies to 
gain a better understanding of issues related to the 
purpose of the AMC. The composition of the Council 
ensures that issues can be explored from a number of 
perspectives.

The 2024 General Meeting was held on the lands of 
the Turrba and Yuggera Peoples, in Brisbane (Meenjn), 
on 17 May 2024. 

Members of the AMC’s Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait 
Islander and Māori Committee joined Directors and 
Members for the site visits and the General Meeting.

Site Visits

Two site visit options were provided on the afternoon 
of 16 May. The AMC appreciates the support of  
Metro North Health and the University of Queensland 
in facilitating these visits. 

Stream 1: Developing culturally safe workplaces 
and culturally safe healthcare environments, Metro 
North Health, Caboolture Hospital

•	 MN Health Equity introduction: Better Together, 
Yarning (and outcomes) within Metro North, 
Building a healthcare worker community

•	 Caboolture Medical Staff training and education 
continuum: RMO, IMG and SMO experiences

Annual General Meeting
The AMC Ltd Annual General Meeting was held on 
Friday 25 November 2023 on Ngunnawal and Nambri 
Country, Canberra, attended by AMC Members, 
Members-elect, representatives from MBA, MDANZ, 
CPMC and the Medical Council of New Zealand, and 
AMC staff. 

Key items of business included:

•	 Audited Financial Report of the AMC Limited for 
the year ended 30 June 2023

•	 2022-23 Annual Report

•	 Member appointments

•	 Directors Report

•	 Standing Committee Reports

AMC teams facilitated discussion on the following 
strategic topics:

•	 International medical graduate Journeys

•	 Clinical futures

•	 New AMC Test Centre

•	 Accreditation of training sites

•	 Cultural Safety learning methodology

AMC Directors, Members and Staff with hosts from 
Caboolture Hospital and Metro North Health
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Stream 2: Research and innovation to speed up the 
translation of new knowledge to improve healthcare, 
UQ Digital Health, Herston Campus, University of 
Queensland 

•	 QDHeC’s Artificial Intelligence capability

•	 Consumer perspective: Graduate Certificate student

•	 QDHec workforce education

•	 SMART Hub

•	 Indigenous health: DIFFERENCE MRFF project

General Meeting

40 years of setting Standards: Why are we where we 
are?

A breakfast session facilitated by Professor Shaun 
Ewen, AMC Director and Chair of the Aboriginal and/
or Torres Strait Islander and Māori Committee, set the 
scene for the meeting. 

Harnessing AMCs influence, networks and privilege 
to create change

AMC teams reported on the key areas of work, 
focusing on the impact of the work and resulting 
process changes:

•	 Accreditation – a lever for change 

•	 Continuing Professional Development

•	 The National Framework for Prevocational Training 

•	 Specialist Medical Colleges 

•	 Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander Health 
Outcomes and Cultural Safety in Assessment 

•	 IMG Journey Mapping Project 

•	 Preparing our staff and committees for change – 
internal training

The meeting concluded with a yarning session on 
learnings from both the site visits and the strategic 
discussions facilitated by the Indigenous Policy and 
Programs team. 

Supporting Indigenous businesses

The Council dinner was catered by Birrunga Gallery at 
the Tivoli. Birrunga provided a Welcome to Country 
and showcased several contemporary Indigenous 
artworks on display from local artists. 

Delegate gift baskets were provided by BSKT 
Wholefoods, a plant-based wholefoods Supply Nation 
registered company based on the Gold Coast.

AMC Directors, Members and Staff with hosts from UQ Digital Health
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AMC Strategy and core  bus iness 
funct ions

Strategic Highlights 
The following articles in this report highlight key work under the AMC's Strategic Plan:

Improving assessment pathways and support for international medical graduates 

	} Changing the pass mark of the AMC clinical exam page 22

	} Reforming the clinical exam page 22

	} A new AMC test centre page 23

	} International medical graduate assessment experiences and performance project page 24

Medical education and training across the continuum

	} Developing medical education standards in the western pacific region page 29

	} Supporting medical schools to implement the revised Standards for Assessment and Accreditation of Primary 
Medical Programs page 29

	} Specialist medical programs standards and training sites  page 30

	} The National Framework for Prevocational Medical Training page 31

	} New cultural safety training for accreditation assessors page 32 

Reviewing performance against 
the strategic plan 
The AMC's Strategic Plan is one of its key governing 
documents, defining the priorities needed to achieve 
its Vision and communicating these to internal and 
external stakeholders. 

The Strategic Plan is based on five pillars, focusing on 
actions and projects to strengthen the relationship 
between core business functions of standards devel-
opment, accreditation and assessment and meeting 
community health needs. 

Our strategic actions draw on our relationships with 
key partners, including the Medical Board of Australia, 
medical schools, intern training accreditation authori-
ties and specialist colleges, on our stakeholder engage-
ment through our advisory and governance structures, 
and on building new strategic relationships. 

The AMC was reviewed in 2021-22 to consider 
progress and changes in its operating environment 
and policy contexts. The plan is based on five strategic 
pillars to meet the Vision and Purpose, and under-
pinned by the AMC's Values.

https://www.amc.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2022/07/AMC-Strategic-Plan-2022-2028.pdf


•	 Continued support for the Western Pacific 
Association for Medical Education, including 
contributing to the development of medical 
education standards in the western pacific region, 
including working with Vietnam on the develop-
ment of accreditation processes

•	 Supporting the Singapore Ministry of Health with 
training as it implements medical school review.  

Accreditation

•	 Working with specialist colleges and jurisdictions 
to address the recommendations of the National 
Health Practitioner Ombudsman’s (NHPO) Report 
into the accreditation of specialist training sites 

•	 Facilitated development of a Communication 
Protocol between Specialist Medical Colleges, 
accredited organisations and Health Departments 
forming part of Ministerial Policy Direction 2023-1 
– medical college accreditation of training sites 

•	 Collaboration with the National Health Practitioner 
Ombudsman on their Independent review of 
accreditation processes 

•	 Reaccreditation of 32 programs and monitoring of 
34 programs of study under the AMC’s designation 
as the accreditation body for medicine

•	 Accreditation of four new workplace based assess-
ment providers as part of the standard pathway for 
medical practitioner registration

•	 Implemented the new framework for Continuing 
Professional Development (CPD) Homes 
(Registration standard: Continuing Professional 
Development), transitioning 16 specialist medical 
colleges to CPD homes and approving one further 
organisation

•	 Approval of revised Standards for Primary Medical 
Programs by Medical Board of Australia and the 
Medical Council of New Zealand

•	 Input to the National Medical Training Survey and 
the use of results as documentary evidence that 
AMC assessment teams consider for accreditation 
reviews

•	 Commencement of the AMC’s International 
Medical Graduate Assessment Experiences and 
Performance Project

•	 Development of resources to support implementa-
tion of the National Framework for Prevocational 
Medical Training

•	 Progressed development of the National 
E-portfolio to support implementation of the 
National Framework for Prevocational Medical 
Training, including finalising the procurement 
process and contracting MyKnowledgeMap Limited 
to develop and implement the program

•	 Commenced a review of the Standards for 
Assessment and Accreditation of Specialist Medical 
Programs, established a Standards Review Working 
Group to progress the work and began initial stake-
holder consultation

•	 Establishment of the Cosmetic Surgery 
Accreditation Advisory Committee. 

Key achievements 2023-24
Strategic

•	 Implementation of the Strategic Plan and 
Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander and Māori 
Strategy

•	 Input to the National Medical Workforce Review 
through membership of the Medical Workforce 
Reform Advisory Committee and its successor

•	 Leadership of several recommendations from 
the Independent Review of Overseas Health 
Practitioner Regulatory Settings (Kruk Review) 
identified as a priority for Health Ministers 
including development of the qualifications assess-
ment framework for an expedited pathway for 
Specialist IMGs to achieve registration in Australia 

•	 Research project to understand the barriers to 
and enablers of international medical graduates 
assessment and experiences on their pathway to 
practise in Australia 

•	 Development of a data strategy to position the 
AMC at data maturity level 3 by early 2026

•	 Development of a discussion paper on the potential 
impacts of AI on the AMC

•	 Reconstruction of the AMC website

•	 Health Literacy training for staff

•	 Membership of and provision of the secretariat for 
the Health Professions Accreditation Collaborative 
Forum and progression of collaborative work
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Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander Health

•	 Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander and Māori 
Standing Committee representation on all main 
Committees of the AMC, the Medical Workforce 
Digital Capabilities Project, the Primary Medical 
Program Standards review and the National 
Framework for Prevocational Medical Training 
Review

•	 Embedding the Shared Sovereignty model of 
collaborative consultation and engagement with 
Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander and Māori 
stakeholders

•	 Ongoing Cultural Safety training modules imple-
mented, including for external AMC members such 
as Directors and Committee members 

•	 Providing a Culturally Safe Space at AMC functions, 
workshops and events

•	 Internal engagement and knowledge sharing 
throughout the year including engaging guest 
speakers and yarning opportunities 

•	 Strengthening of external partnerships and rela-
tionships with Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait 
Islander and Māori stakeholder groups and 
organisations

•	 Review of the updated draft Australian Medicine 
in Context (previously Anthology of Medical 
Conditions).

Assessment

•	 Report by the Clinical Examinations Working Group 
on a model for the future development of the 
Clinical Examination and beginning of detailed work

•	 Development of Options concerning the Future 
Delivery of the AMC Clinical Examination post the 
closing of the National Test Centre 

•	 Implementation of a change in the pass mark for 
the Clinical Examination (to 9 out of 14 stations) for 
Clinical Examination in March 2024

•	 Collaboration with affiliates in the USA, Canada, 
Europe and the UK on medical licensure, health and 
commercial assessment delivery, and examination 
security

•	 Closure of the National Test Centre and provision of 
Online Clinical Examinations over 2023/24

•	 Considered options for Future Exam Delivery, 
with agreement to proceed with an independent 
test centre. Work commenced in September 
2023 to acquire suitable premises for a Centre in 
the Melbourne CBD to meet current and future 
requirements. 

Governance

•	 The AGM was held on 24 November 2023 and a 
General Meeting on 17 May 2024

•	 Amendments to the Constitution approved by 
Members

•	 Review of the Finance, Audit and Risk Management 
Committee Terms of Reference

•	 Review and update of key Policies

•	 Company Secretary appointment 

•	 Commenced consideration for delegating certain 
accreditation decisions to Standing Committees. 

Financial

•	 The AMC strengthened its financial position during 
the year as a result of increased revenues, with 
cash invested in short term deposits or managed 
investment portfolios

•	 AMC introduced a number of new roles into the 
team which allowed further execution of the 
Strategy

•	 The Investment Reserve Policy was amended to 
ensure greater alignment of the AMC’s Objects, 
Strategic imperatives and values. A second 
Investment Adviser was appointed to ensure the 
best outcomes for the AMC’s investment needs, 
including returns and ESG

•	 System improvements have been implemented 
to generate efficiencies and streamline internal 
processes

•	 Solvency remained at acceptable ranges 
throughout the year with close attention paid to 
expenditure and cash positions. 
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Improving asses sment  pathways  and 
support  for  internat ional  medical 
graduates
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International medical graduates make a significant 
contribution to the Australian health workforce and 
communities across diverse settings. The AMC recog-
nises that the pathways for international medical 
graduates are complex, at times bureaucratic, time 
consuming, uncertain, expensive and stressful. 

We are working on a number of initiatives to improve 
the journey for international medical graduates 
undertaking assessment in Australia. These initiatives 
address some of the expectations set by the Kruk 
review to ensure that we have timely, effective and 
efficient systems in place so that we can continue to 
attract and retain skilled overseas-trained doctors. 

AMC Test Centre Clinical Examination

https://www.health.gov.au/our-work/independent-review-of-health-practitioner-regulatory-settings
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Reforming the clinical exam   
The AMC is in engaged in a long-term project to rede-
sign the AMC’s clinical pathway so that it continues 
to meet the contemporary health care needs of the 
Australian community, is fair, feasible and flexible, and 
delivers a safe and competent medical workforce. 

The AMC established the  Futures Working Group 
in 2022 to lead the project. The work of this group 
culminated in a future assessment model that AMC 
Directors agreed to in principle in February 2023. 
The new model represents a shift in approach in 
AMC processes from judging performance to judging 
and guiding performance.  Recognising that interna-
tional medical graduates are strategic and motivated 
learners, the model shifts to providing learners with 
information to guide their decisions about their 
learning needs. The model contains an element of 
AMC needs assessment, with a focus on guiding candi-
dates to assess their needs in relation to known gaps 
and challenges in international medical graduates’ 
knowledge and learning as they transition to practise 
in Australia.

The model will be further refined within the AMC 
and with stakeholders including international medical 
graduates, and will take into account considerations of 
cost, time and equity.

Changing the pass mark of the 
AMC clinical exam
In March 2024, AMC Directors agreed to change 
the pass mark of the AMC Clinical Examination. This 
decision followed an extensive review that included 
international benchmarking. 

During the clinical examination, candidates undertake 
16 multidisciplinary clinical scenarios (called stations) 
that reflect  patient presentations of the Australian 
population in community and hospital settings. 
Previously, candidates had to pass ten out of fourteen 
stations to be awarded an overall pass. Following the 
change, candidates will now need to pass nine out of 
fourteen stations. 

The change in the clinical exam pass mark will increase 
the pass rate allowing more doctors to continue 
on their path to general registration. International 
medical graduates will still need to meet the same 
standards expected of domestically trained graduates 
and demonstrate that they have the required clinical 
skills and competencies to practice safely in Australian 
healthcare settings.

In August 2024, the AMC reduced the Multiple Choice 
Question exam fee. The reduced fee – which was 
applied to all applications received from 8 January 
2024.
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centre.  Many of the AMC’s building contractors, 
including their Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander 
program representatives, were invited to the event. 
The session was led by Wurundjeri man Thane Garvey, 
who provided an in-depth welcome to country and 
insight into the purpose of the cleansing/smoking 
ceremony. For the IPP team this was an important 
element to commence the work at the test centre in 
respecting and cleansing the land on which the new 
centre sits. 

Wurundjeri elders have guided the IPP team through 
this process and a second formal cleansing ceremony 
will be held at the conclusion of the build and handing 
over of the keys to AMC. This event will include many 
of our directors, executive staff, test centre staff, and 
Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander stakeholders. 
The cleansing ceremony is symbolic and will ensure 
positive relationships, energy, practice and purpose 
will continue into the future. 

Cultural artistic elements and story have been 
embedded in the new test centre design, led by 
Gunditjmara, Wemba Wemba and Yorta Yorta artist 
Tommy Day.

The new test centre will include a cultural safe room 
to provide a dedicated area for Aboriginal and/or 
Torres Strait Islander health workers, casual, full-time 
staff and stakeholders who will provide services in the 
centre. This aligns with AMC values and commitment 
to improving cultural safety and Aboriginal and/or 
Torres Strait Islander health outcomes. The IPP team 
have worked with Tommy Day to incorporate cultural 
design elements into this room, spanning out through 
the rest of the new centre. 

The IPP team organised a cleansing ceremony before 
commencement of building works.  The Wurundjeri 
Woi Wurrung corporation were engaged to provide 
a smoking cleanse around the perimeter of the new 

A new AMC test centre
After ten years of in person clinical exams, the AMC 
National Test Centre (NTC) closed its doors in October 
2023. Built in direct response to the ‘Lost in the 
Labyrinth’ report by the House of Representatives 
Standing Committee on Health and Ageing, it was 
the main site for the AMC clinical exam from 2013. 
At the time, the centre was the only one of its kind in 
Australia and one of only a handful of facilities like it 
world-wide. The NTC was also the assessment venue 
for other organisations, such as specialist medical 
colleges. 

Following the closure, all clinical exams were 
conducted online to allow candidates to continue on 
their pathway to registration. The number of online 
exam days in 2024 was the highest in AMC clinical 
history with a total of 120 days of exams.

The AMC began scoping places for a new centre in 
2024, and signed the lease on a site, also located in 
Naarm (Melbourne), in August. In scoping a new site, 
the team looked at more than 20 locations in the 
Melbourne CBD over a period of three months. 

Construction to develop the space so that it meets the 
rigorous and unique requirements of a clinical testing 
environment began in early September. 

We expect that the centre will be open and operating 
AMC clinical exams in March 2025.

The new test centre is located on the lands of the 
Wurundjeri people of the Kulin nation in the Docklands 
district. 
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International medical graduate 
assessment experiences and 
performance project
The AMC is undertaking a large research project with 
international medical graduates and other stake-
holders to better understand the barriers to and 
enablers of international medical graduates success-
fully navigating the pathways to practice in Australia. 

The aim is to show the diversity of international 
medical graduate experience, their journeys, their 
contributions to the Australian health system, and 
to identify solutions to improve their pathway. This 
work aligns to both the National Medical Workforce 
Strategy and The Independent review of overseas 
health practitioner regulatory settings, led by Robyn 
Kruk, AO. 

It draws on data from a survey of international medical 
graduates, stories shared in focus group sessions and 
in-depth interviews with health services and inter-
national medical graduates, and insights from our 
cross-sectorial project advisory group.

The ecosystem in which international medical grad-
uates navigate is complex and involves many stake-
holders. This project recognises that collaborative 
partnerships are essential to drive meaningful change 
and streamline processes. Learn more about the 
project.

What we’ve delivered so far:

More than 4000 international medical graduates responded to the International Medical Graduate Experiences 
Survey. You can download a high level overview survey report.

http://https://www.health.gov.au/our-work/national-medical-workforce-strategy-2021-2031
http://https://www.health.gov.au/our-work/national-medical-workforce-strategy-2021-2031
https://www.health.gov.au/our-work/independent-review-of-health-practitioner-regulatory-settings
https://www.health.gov.au/our-work/independent-review-of-health-practitioner-regulatory-settings
https://www.amc.org.au/about-the-amc/strategic-projects/international-medical-graduate-experiences/
https://www.amc.org.au/about-the-amc/strategic-projects/international-medical-graduate-experiences/
https://www.amc.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2024/02/survey-snapshot.pdf
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We are developing journey maps and personas that 
will provide a much richer understanding of the lived 
and diverse experiences of international medical 
graduates as they navigate the pathways to working as 
a medical practitioner in Australia. 

The personas reflect the heterogeneity of inter-
national medical graduates and allow for a better 
understanding of the characteristics and pain points 
for international medical graduates and what support 
they need. Through evidence-based story telling we 
aim to put a human face to the challenges and possible 
solutions to help lead strategy development at the 
AMC and more broadly by working with partners.

The accompanying journey maps capture the key 
milestones in international medical graduate journeys 
through the lens of international medical graduates, 
supervisors, health services, policy makers, medical 
educationalists and system leaders. We have devel-
oped current and future state maps which set out 
the challenges and possible solutions to guide system 
change.

https://www.amc.org.au/consultation-international-medical-graduate-personas-and-journey-maps/
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Members of the Project Advisory Group and Technical Advisory Group provided feedback about 
the journey maps and personas in a workshop held in Naarm (Melbourne), February 2024.

These methods inform human-centric design and 
user-centred strategic planning because they allow 
us to see the challenges and proposed solutions from 
the perspective of those most closely impacted. 
They democratise change and privilege the voice and 
perspectives of the users of a process and system. 

We have conducted an extensive consultation with 
110 stakeholder organisations of international medical 
graduate assessment and registration and more 
than 100 international medical graduates. We also 
consulted with Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander 
stakeholders to ensure that the journey maps can be 
used to improve systems and approaches to support 
doctors to provide culturally safe care to Aboriginal 
and/or Torres Strait Islander peoples. This process 
yielded valuable information to further refine the 
personas and journey maps. 

Our next step is to develop interactive versions of the 
personas and journey maps to improve user experi-
ence and access to the key ideas and ways forward.



Medical  educat ion and training 
across  the  cont inuum
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in relation to the new standards and to encourage 
thinking about how they will work towards meeting 
the revised standards. It also provided an opportunity 
for schools to discuss key themes such as cultural 
safety and student wellbeing and to do some self-re-
flection that’s required in the monitoring work for 
this financial year. Programs that are not undergoing 
assessment will submit a self-assessment against the 
revised standards in 2024.  

Supporting medical schools to 
implement the revised Standards 
for Assessment and Accreditation 
of Primary Medical Programs
The AMC released the revised Standards for 
Assessment and Accreditation of Primary Medical 
Programs in July 2023 to take effect from 1 January 
2024. In reviewing and developing the standards, the 
AMC followed a shared sovereignty process in which 
Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander and Māori 
governance, expertise, perspectives and voices were 
embedded throughout the process and the resulting 
set of standards. Read the Joint statement in support 
of the new medical school standards.

To assist medical schools with implementing the 
standards, the AMC hosted a workshop for all primary 
medical program providers in Naarm (Melbourne) in 
early 2024. The aim of the workshop was to support 
medical schools in understanding their obligations 

Developing medical education 
standards in the western pacific 
region
The AMC provides the secretariat for the Western 
Pacific Association for Medical Education (WPAME); 
a regional association for medical education linked to 
the World Federation for Medical Education. 

The WPAME supports countries in the region to 
develop processes for quality assurance and accredita-
tion of medical programs and undertakes evaluations 
of medical programs when accreditation processes do 
not exist. An advisory panel of medical education and 
accreditation practitioners from across the region, 
including AMC staff, contributes to this work. WPAME 
has been working with the University of Medicine and 
Pharmacy, Ho Chi Minh City Vietnam, on a pilot of 
accreditation and the development of standards and 
processes to support the introduction of an accredita-
tion process for medical programs in Vietnam.

https://www.amc.org.au/news-and-updates/joint-statement-in-support-of-new-medical-school-standards/
https://www.amc.org.au/news-and-updates/joint-statement-in-support-of-new-medical-school-standards/
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The AMC Specialist Education Accreditation Committee 
will work with the AMC Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait 
Islander and Māori Committee to provide oversight of 
the review. Both Committees will share responsibility 
for structuring and developing the content and how 
it is structured within the broader specialist medical 
program standards for maximum efficacy and achieve-
ment of outcomes.

The AMC is working with the Medical Council of New 
Zealand and reporting to the Medical Board of Australia 
on the review.

The work related to the implementation of the NHPO’s 
recommendations into the accreditation of specialist 
training sites will inform the review of the Standards 
for Specialist Medical Programs at relevant points. 
The AMC website will continue to be updated as work 
progresses on both of these projects. 

Review of the Standards for Assessment 
and Accreditation of Specialist Medical 
Programs

In 2024, the AMC began a review of the Standards for 
Assessment and Accreditation of Specialist Medical 
Programs. The AMC established a Standards Review 
Working Group to lead the scoping, review and devel-
opment work. This group is chaired by Professor Alison 
Jones, an experienced medical educationalist and 
AMC assessor who has held roles in specialist medical 
colleges, jurisdictional departments of health, prevo-
cational training accreditation authorities and medical 
schools, in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand. 

The AMC is committed to a Shared Sovereignty 
approach. Within the context of the Standards Review, 
a shared sovereignty approach ensures that the 
development of standards relating to Aboriginal and/
or Torres Strait Islander and Māori Peoples health and 
cultural safety is led by Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait 
Islander and Māori people and involves culturally safe 
consultation. 

Specialist medical programs 
standards and training sites

Assessment and accreditation of 
specialist training sites

In 2022 and 2023, the National Health Practitioner 
Ombudsman (NHPO) undertook a review of specialist 
medical college policies, procedures, and practices 
for accreditation of specialist training sites. The AMC 
is working with the specialist colleges and jurisdic-
tions to implement the recommendations of that 
review, which are aimed at improving communication 
between stakeholders and achieving greater consist-
ency of accreditation processes, policies, procedures 
and decisions across the specialist colleges. 

A communications protocol between colleges and 
jurisdictions was developed by the AMC and was 
approved by Health Ministers in October 2023. The 
protocol sets out the roles, responsibilities and 
expectations about communication in relation to the 
accreditation of training sites in public hospitals and 
health facilities. 

https://aus01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.amc.org.au%2Faccredited-organisations%2Fspecialist-medical-programs-standards-review%2F&data=05%7C02%7Cmadeleine.novak%40amc.org.au%7C52712cb65f9f4147829008dcd3b1164a%7C30325ef0ae3c4f768efe4fa629ee6fe5%7C0%7C0%7C638618004746817949%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=%2BLTzGuQPymiE%2Fl5W8qXtth%2FbMyDdLxoaG5JiwDHSOjE%3D&reserved=0
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The National Framework for 
Prevocational Medical Training
Implementation of the National Framework for 
Prevocational Medical Training (PGY1&2) began in 
2024. 

The Framework, which previously only related to 
PGY1, has been expanded to include a structured 
program for Postgraduate Year 2. Health services in 
the Australian Capital Territory and New South Wales 
began implementing the new Framework for PGY2 
doctors in 2024, with the remaining health services 
across Australia to begin implementing in 2025.

The AMC undertook its first accreditation assessments 
of prevocational training accreditation authorities 
under the new National Framework, assessing The 
Canberra Region Medical Education 

https://www.amc.org.au/accredited-organisations/prevocational-training/new-national-framework-for-prevocational-pgy1-and-pgy2-medical-training-2024/
https://www.amc.org.au/accredited-organisations/prevocational-training/new-national-framework-for-prevocational-pgy1-and-pgy2-medical-training-2024/
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The ePortfolio

The AMC is working with the Commonwealth and 
representatives of Australian jurisdictions prevoca-
tional training accreditation authorities as project 
manager to design and deliver a national ePortfolio 
system. 

The ePortfolio will support the implementation of 
the National Framework and will act as a record of 
learning that assists the development, training and 
assessment of thousands of Postgraduate Year 1 
and Year 2 (PGY1 and PGY2) prevocational doctors 
nationally. The aim is to provide a more consistent and 
supported approach to medical training and supervi-
sion. The ePortfolio will also:

•	 feature offline capability on mobile devices to 
support uninterrupted access for users, which is 
ideal for rural locations where internet access is 
unreliable

•	 support learning and assessment processes

•	 strengthen the longitudinal view of prevocational 
doctor progress, and

•	 streamline administration.

The Health Chief Executives Forum agreed to engage 
MyKnowledgeMap to develop and implement the 
system. Testing of the of the system with end users 
including (but not limited to) prevocational doctors, 
supervisors and system administrators took place in 
July and August 2024. The AMC continues to work 
closely with MyKnowledgeMap and the National 
e-Portfolio Project Board to work towards launch in 
2025.

New cultural safety training for 
accreditation assessors
 As part of the Health Profession Accreditation 
Collaborative Forum, the AMC has worked with 
Abstarr Consulting, to develop a cultural safety 
training program specifically designed for contributors 
to the accreditation of health profession programs of 
study. 

The course is an interprofessional program, with 
learners from across 16 health professions.  It has 
been designed so that accreditation staff and contrib-
utors can:

•	 build their knowledge and understanding of what 
cultural safety means and how it’s applied in health 
care

•	 appropriately interpret the application of standards 
that are related to cultural safety, and

•	 develop the knowledge and tools to confidently 
accredit and monitor health education programs.

The training includes a mix of online self-directed 
modules and a facilitated discussion that provides an 
opportunity for accreditation contributors across the 
health professions to share ideas and learnings. 

https://www.amc.org.au/news-and-updates/a-national-eportfolio-for-prevocational-doctors-across-australia/
https://www.amc.org.au/news-and-updates/a-national-eportfolio-for-prevocational-doctors-across-australia/
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The AMC standards for all phases 
of medical education and training 
The IPP team have been working with the AMC 
Accreditation teams to ensure cultural safety and 
Indigenous Health outcomes are appropriately 
addressed in all phases of medical education and 
training. 

Medical School Standards 

The AMC reviewed the content of the Standards for 
Assessment and Accreditation of Primary Medical 
Programs by the Australian Medical Council 2012 
between 2020 and mid-2023. 

The review of these standards included ensuring 
Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander and Māori 
expertise is deeply embedded. The voices of Aboriginal 
and/or Torres Strait Islander and Māori people are 
reflected in the language about cultural safety and 
Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander and Māori 
health and wellbeing.

The revised medical school standards took effect on 
1 January 2024, and the AMC is now undertaking an 
initial review of all medical school programs against 
the revised standards, due to be completed by January 
2025. 

Achievements against the 
Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait 
Islander and Māori Strategy
The collaborative methodology enables The Aboriginal 
and/or Torres Strait Islander and Māori Strategy to 
achieve the key focus areas identified in the Strategy:

1.	 Support the right to self-determination of 
Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander and Māori 
Peoples in our work.	

2.	 Develop and foster strong and mutually beneficial 
relationships and partnerships with Aboriginal 
and/or Torres Strait Islander and Māori partners, 
stakeholders and communities.

3.	 Create a culturally safe, respectful and supportive 
environment.

4.	 Advocate, support and promote the goals of 
Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander and Māori 
Peoples, in relation to Aboriginal and/or Torres 
Strait Islander and Māori health.

Under the guidance of the Aboriginal and/or Torres 
Strait Islander and Māori Committee, the IPP team are 
working with all teams in the AMC to achieve these 
objectives, with a number of notable outcomes in this 
financial year.

Indigenous Policy and Programs 
and the Aboriginal and/or 
Torres Strait Islander and Māori 
Committee 
The Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander and Māori 
Committee is a constituted Standing Committee of 
the AMC. The Committee provides strategic advice 
and recommendations on important matters related 
to Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander and Māori 
health to all functions of the AMC.

The Committee supports the AMC’s purpose of making 
health systems free of racism and inequality and 
provides oversight to the implementation of the AMC’s 
Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander and Māori 
Strategy.

The Committee works alongside and is supported 
by the Indigenous Policy and Programs team (IPP). 
The Committee and the IPP team work closely with 
other Committees and sub-Committees of the AMC to 
ensure collaborative effort is embedded before, during 
and after all work of the AMC. 
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The IPP team has provided support to the AMC accred-
itation team in providing a culturally safe space in all 
its meetings which include Aboriginal and/or Torres 
Strait Islander and Māori stakeholders, commencing 
at the Medical School stakeholder workshop in March 
2024, which brought together medical schools and 
stakeholders to learn more about the implementation 
review.

In addition to the Medical School Accreditation 
Standards desktop review subgroup, a group of 
Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander and Māori  was 
formed to ensure a culturally safe and appropriate 
review of revised Indigenous standards.

Prevocational National Core Modules

The IPP team, in consultation with Postgraduate 
Medical Council of Victoria (PMCV), also assisted in 
developing the National Core Modules in assessments 
for the National Framework for Prevocational Medical 
Training.  

The IPP team has participated in a number of meetings 
and presentations to support this work, including:

•	 Prevocational training workshop, October 2023: 
The IPP team facilitated and presented on the 
day providing invaluable insight and information 
around the National Framework for Prevocational 
PGY1 and PGY2 medical training, and 

•	 Prevocational Medical Education Forum, November 
2023: Highlighting assessment methodologies and 
the difference between an assessor learning about 
cultural safety and lived experience of Aboriginal 
and/or Torres Strait Islander people. 

Specialist Medical Colleges Standards 
Review 

In 2024 the AMC commenced a review of the 
Standards for Assessment and Accreditation of 
Specialist Medical Programs.

The AMC is continuing its commitment to a Shared 
Sovereignty approach involving culturally safe consul-
tation and development led by Aboriginal and/or 
Torres Strait Islander and Māori Peoples. 

The AMC Specialist Education Accreditation 
Committee is working with the AMC Aboriginal and/or 
Torres Strait Islander and Māori Committee to provide 
oversight of the review.

Along with the Standards Review Working Group, 
chaired by Professor Alison Jones, the IPP team has 
assisted in the establishment of an Aboriginal and/or 
Torres Strait Islander and Māori subgroup to draft the 
initial standards that relate to Aboriginal and/or Torres 
Strait Islander and Māori health and cultural safety.

The IPP team is in the process of facilitating a number 
of yarning circles with Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait 
Islander and Māori staff and fellows to understand the 
changes needed to ensure cultural safety of patients, 
fellows, and Indigenous staff in the specialist college 
programs. The information from these sessions will 
inform the work of the Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait 
Islander and Māori subgroup in this process.

Assessment of International 
Medical Graduates

Review of AMC Assessment Processes

The review of the inclusion of Cultural Safety and 
Indigenous Health outcomes in the AMC in Assessment 
of International Medical Graduates has commenced, 
with the formation of a Project working group, made 
up of Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander Peoples, 
to establish the scope and nature of this work.

The IPP team is working with the AMC Assessment 
Committee and the Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait 
Islander and Māori Committee to ensure a culturally 
safe process to undertake this review.
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•	 Australian Indigenous Doctors Association (AIDA) 
conference November 2023 - the AMC presented 
on the embedding of Shared Sovereignty in 
processes of standards review. 

•	 Health Professionals Accreditation Collaborative 
Forum (HPACF). The IPP manager has been involved 
in supporting the development of Assessor training 
modules, piloted implementation throughout 
February and March 2024.

•	 Medical Council of New Zealand (MCNZ) - the 
IPP team has established regular meetings with 
Indigenous teams within both the AMC and MCNZ, 
to support the work these of both councils and 
each other.

•	 The Australian Commission for Safety and Quality 
in Health Care , working together to strengthen 
the national commitment to cultural safety and 
Indigenous health outcomes.

Key Meetings and Engagements

Key Engagements include:

•	 Membership of the Director of the IPP team on the 
Ahpra Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health 
Strategy Group - overseeing the Ahpra Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander Health and Cultural 
Safety Strategy focused on achieving patient safety 
for Aboriginal and Torres Islander Peoples as the 
norm and the inextricably linked elements of clin-
ical and cultural safety.

•	 Membership of the Director of the IPP team 
on the Ahpra Cultural Safety Accreditation and 
Continuing Professional Development Working 
Group – providing input into the development 
of the National Cultural Safety Accreditation and 
Continuing Professional Development (ACPD) 
framework and strategy.

•	 Medical Council of Canada (MCC) September 
2023 - the chair of the Aboriginal and/or Torres 
Strait Islander and Māori Committee, and the 
IPP Director provided information on the AMC 
approach to Cultural Safety, and the importance 
of robust policy to support shared sovereignty, 
including mechanisms to ensure input of the 
Indigenous staff and stakeholders. 

•	 Leaders in Indigenous Medical Education LIME 
Connection X October 2023 – in partnership with 
the AMC Accreditation Team, the IPP team facil-
itated a workshop on the new Medical School 
Accreditation standards to seek further involve-
ment from Indigenous experts in the education 
space to continue this work.

Strengthening Relationships
The Committee and the IPP team have been working 
hard to strengthen our stakeholder relationships, with 
both Indigenous and non-Indigenous organisations 
across the world, building strategic connections that 
support the AMC objectives in this space.

Establishment of Culturally Safe Spaces

In recognition of the often-uncomfortable conver-
sations often resulting in the potential of culturally 
unsafe conditions experienced by Aboriginal and/or 
Torres Strait Islander and Māori expert stakeholders 
in these settings, the provision of Cultural Safe 
spaces/rooms for meetings and events which include 
Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander and Māori 
stakeholders has been implemented.

The AMC includes this in all meetings where 
Indigenous stakeholders are present. This struc-
ture has been greatly supported by our Indigenous 
stakeholders.
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Ongoing Cultural Safety Learning and 
Training

New Training Modules

The IPP team and Seedling group have committed to 
expanding on existing cultural safety modules and 
creating new modules to be delivered in 2024/2025 
financial year. New topic themes will include Allyship 
and Cultural Safety journey for international medical 
graduates. 

We are also exploring an evaluation project which 
will capture staff journey with Cultural Safety and the 
changes and impacts it has across organisation. The 
current 5 Cultural safety modules have been run monthly 
throughout the year; all staff are required to attend 
these sessions.

On Country Experiences

The IPP team have led ‘learning on country’ for several 
AMC teams. These sessions are run over two days, 
with an on-country day, delivered in partnership with 
Traditional Custodian stakeholders in both Canberra 
and Melbourne, and a second day of reflect on these 
learnings, with consideration to how these learnings will 
impact the ongoing work of the AMC.

The on-country sessions include exploring and under-
standing country through the eyes of traditional owners, 
understanding traditional medicines, learning about the 
impacts that colonisation has had on those traditional 
owner groups, weaving and traditional rope making, 
traditional cooking and bush foods and yarning circle 
reflection sessions with staff.

Several on country sessions are planned and will engage 
all AMC teams in the 2024-2025 period.

Changes within the AMC 

Systemic Changes

The Committee and the IPP team have led substantial 
changes in the culture of the AMC, contributing to 
many key processes throughout 2023/2024:

•	 Strengthening of the AMC Indigenous workforce, 
both within our staff cohort and through the 
governance functions and working groups of the 
AMC. 

•	 Policy reviews, including combining the 
AMC Procurement Policy and the Indigenous 
Procurement Policy as one Procurement Policy for 
the AMC, the AMC Privacy Policy, Risk Management 
Policy and Framework, and AMC Investment 
Reserves Policy. 

•	 Contributing to the development of organisa-
tional policy including AMC use of Images and 
Photographs policy, Artificial Intelligence (AI) 
and the AMC and the Guide for writing cultur-
ally safe content for Australian Medical Council 
Assessments. 

•	 Consultation on the development of the AMC Data 
Strategy and Governance Framework incorporating 
Data Sovereignty.

•	 Leading the development of the Anti-Racism and 
Cultural Safety policy for the AMC. 

Supply Nation Membership

The AMC maintains registration and resource commit-
ment with Supply Nation, which continues to support 
the AMC’s targets for Indigenous procurement. 
Refining the practice of seeking Indigenous Business 
options requires continuous improvement, and many 
suppliers not previously considered have had oppor-
tunities to showcase skills and abilities and have won 
engagement through open processes.

AMC expects to achieve its target of 5% of its 
purchases, aggregated over 3 years, from Indigenous 
enterprises by 2025. A significant portion of this target 
spend will be met through procurement related to the 
AMC test centre build in Melbourne which is due for 
completion at the end of 2024.

While the AMC expects to achieve an aggregated 
target, we have noted the limitations in some supply 
areas not currently provisioned by Indigenous 
Suppliers. In considering this, the AMC now seeks 
further information from non-Indigenous organisa-
tions in our supply chain to demonstrated support of 
Indigenous Businesses, Peoples and/or Communities 
within their own policies of procurement, demon-
strating purposeful strategies of engagement and 
parity for Indigenous Business. 
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Cultural Updates

Regular updates on both culture and events relevant to Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander and Māori peoples were provided over the year. Some of these 
emails have been supported by speakers or yarning circles with all staff, including sharing personal stories and/or expanding on these topics though practice.

Engagement continues to increase from non-Indigenous staff around these topics. Approaches from individual staff members seeking to discuss and expand on 
their knowledge have occurred with more frequency.

Content has included:

•	 Organisational safety and wellbeing

•	 Australia Day / Invasion Day including information about the inter-
changeable public holiday day policy at AMC

•	 Australia Day / Survival Day webinar on “how to be ally on Australia 
day” through Evolve Communities

•	 Information on the Redfern speech delivered by Prime minister The 
Hon. Paul Keating. 

•	 The AIDA conference, and discussion around Dr Kelvon Kong’s keynote 
presentation, on how hearing issues have affected his own families 
and community, the work he is doing in this space, and the work of 
Kings Narrative

•	 Coming out of the Voice: the mental health toll of the decision of the 
Voice, the support provided by the IPP Team, EAP and other resources

•	 Anniversary of the National Apology to the Stolen Generation

•	 National Sorry Day

•	 Mabo Day

•	 Waitangi Day, NZ

•	 NAIDOC (events, and information)

•	 Matariki - Māori New Year, NZ

•	 Reconciliation Week

•	 The Freedom Rides

•	 Stolen Generations (speakers)

•	 Impact of poor Health care on Indigenous Patients

•	 Weaving (workshops)

•	 Bush food and medicine plants and bush teas information 

•	 Highlighting health inequities in the system

•	 South Australia Voice to Parliament

•	 Traditional seasons, language names and facts with an A.C.T and Melbourne 
focus for AMC staff

•	 Bush medicine facts, uses, traditional healers and knowledge holders and work 
being done across Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander communities.

•	 Focus and highlight on Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander professionals 
in medical practice, cultural safety improvements and initiatives in healthcare 
around Australia



Australian Medical Council Ltd 2023-24 Annual Report 38

Meetings of the Aboriginal and/or Torres 
Strait Islander and Māori Committee

The Committee met on four occasions during 2023-24:

•	 August 2023 (Zoom)

•	 November 2023 - (Zoom) 

•	 February 2024 (zoom)

•	 May 2024 - Brisbane (Meanjin – Turrbal and Jagera 
Country). 

In May 2024 the meeting coincided with the AMC 
Council meeting on location in Brisbane. The 
Committee connected with Council on site visits 
throughout the area and shared with Council the 
work of the Committee, discussing Cultural Safety in 
applicable implementation through policy and practice 
in all aspects of Health. 

Directors of the AMC and the Aboriginal and/or Torres 
Strait Islander and Māori Committee met face to face 
in May 2024, through an IPP hosted yarning circle 
sharing strategic discussion and forward planning. 

Non-current members serving during 2022-23:

	} Emeritus Professor David Prideaux - AMC Director 
member

	} Dr Justin Gladman - Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait 
Islander or Māori Persons who are members of 
other AMC Committees (Assessment), Aboriginal 
Member 

	} Jacqui Gibson - Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait 
Islander or Māori persons who are members of 
other AMC Committees (SEAC), Aboriginal Member

	} Kiri Rikihana - Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait 
Islander or Māori persons who are members of 
other AMC Committees (SEAC), Māori Member

	} Professor Lisa Jackson Pulver AM - Aboriginal and/
or Torres Strait Islander or Māori persons who are 
members of other AMC Committees (Assessment)  

	} Associate Professor Waikaremoana Waitoki - 
Community Stakeholder Member, Māori Member

	} Karl Briscoe - Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait 
Islander or Māori community member, Aboriginal 
Member

	} Associate Professor Phillip Mills - Aboriginal and/or 
Torres Strait Islander or Māori community member, 
Torres Strait Islander Member)

	} Dr Stewart Sutherland - Member nominated by the 
Leaders in Indigenous Medical Education Network 
(LIME), Aboriginal Member

	} Dr Simone Raye - Member nominated by the 
Australian Indigenous Doctors’ Association (AIDA), 
Aboriginal Member

	} Dr Jonathan Newchurch - Proxy Member 
nominated by the Australian Indigenous Doctors’ 
Association (AIDA), Aboriginal Member

	} Dr Tammy Kimpton - Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait 
Islander or Māori persons who are members of 
other AMC Committees (SEAC), Aboriginal Member

	} Dr Elizabeth Rushbrook - AMC Director Member

Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait 
Islander and Māori Committee
Committee membership includes the Aboriginal 
and/or Torres Strait Islander and Māori members of 
other AMC committees, community members, health 
consumer members and representatives from stake-
holder organisations including Australian Indigenous 
Doctors Association (AIDA) and Leaders in Indigenous 
Medical Education (LIME). This ensures that all work 
undertaken by the AMC can be considered through 
multiple levels of Indigenous perspectives as well 
as providing feedback and guidance within forums 
regarding AMC’s commitment to and practice of 
cultural safety. 

Membership as at 30 June 2023 

	} Professor Shaun Ewen, Chair - AMC Director 
Member, Aboriginal Member

	} Dr Artiene Tatian, Deputy Chair - Aboriginal and/
or Torres Strait Islander or Māori persons who are 
members of other AMC Committees (MedSAC), 
Aboriginal Member

	} Professor Papaarangi Reid - Aboriginal and/or 
Torres Strait Islander or Māori persons who are 
members of other AMC Committees (MedSAC), 
Māori Member

	} Associate Professor Maria Mackay - Aboriginal 
and/or Torres Strait Islander or Māori persons who 
are members of other AMC Committees (PreVAC) 
Aboriginal Member

	} Bianca Field - Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait 
Islander or Māori persons who are members 
of other AMC Committees (PreVAC), Aboriginal 
Member



People  and Culture

New people policies
To ensure that the AMC’s people and workplace 
policies and practices align with AMC values and 
best-practice principles we have engaged an external 
consultant to review our Staff Employment Manual. 
The consultants will also be developing a set of guide-
lines for salary banding and definitions, and reviewing 
our Code of Conduct 

The salary guidelines and banding descriptions will 
give clarity about position classifications and remuner-
ation and review decisions. These were developed as 
a result of feedback from staff seeking more transpar-
ency around how the salary bands work and how staff 
can move between salary bands. 

The Code of Conduct will be revised to encompass not 
only staff but anyone who contributes to the work of 
the AMC. 

Leadership restructure
In March 2024, the AMC implemented a restructure 
of the leadership across the assessment and accredi-
tation function to improve cross team working, allow 
for greater career progression and improve systems 
and processes. The restructure saw the creation of a 
new Chief Operating Officer role to oversee both the 
Accreditation and Assessment sections. Three new   
management roles were also established to support 
this change. The new positions were advertised inter-
nally only so that all appointments were from current 
staff. 

The name of the human resources business area has 
changed to People and Culture to accurately reflect 
and recognise the value and purpose of this business 
area within the AMC. The role of Chief Finance Officer 
was broadened to include a focus on people and 
culture process improvement areas and was renamed 
Chief Corporate Officer/CFO. 

The restructure responds to feedback from the staff 
engagement survey for greater career opportunities 
and cross unit cooperation. 

A new online HR and payroll 
system 
A new HR and payroll platform was implemented in 
June/July 2023 and allows for online HR and payroll 
management that is accessible via laptops and mobile 
devices 24 hours a day. 

The new system provides staff with access to payslips, 
leave requests and live updates on balances, policies 
and HR documents on one platform. 

It also brings together recruitment and performance 
reviews into one integrated HR system to improve 
efficiencies and streamline processes.

Performance Development
Following feedback from staff, the AMC will be 
conducting annual refresher training for staff on our 
performance review process. The training covers all 
aspects of performance development from creating 
performance development plans to how to give and 
receive constructive and respectful feedback. Three 
training sessions have been held. The transition to 
online performance development review is currently 
underway.
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Improving health literacy
AMC staff took part in health literacy workshops 
that were delivered by the Health Care Consumers 
Association of the ACT. The aim of the workshops 
was to support staff to confidently find, question, 
understand, and use health information not only for 

Leadership and Management 
Development Program 
Eighteen staff participated in the AMC Leadership and 
Management Program. The program builds leadership 
and teamwork across the organisation with a focus on 
values, culture, building internal capability, empow-
ering people, and process and system improvements.

As part of the course, participants worked in teams 
on a project, developed recommendations and 
presented their project to Directors and the Executive 
Management. Projects traversed a range of themes 
including culture at the AMC, training and induction, 
staff recognition and process improvements.

This year’s cohort completed the program in August 
2024. All were overwhelmingly positive about the skills 
and techniques that the course has given them. 

themselves but also for their families so that they can 
make informed decisions about their health and well-
being. It was also an opportunity to understand and 
help to improve the health literacy environment, learn 
how health literacy intersects with health equity, and 
why this understanding is crucial for creating fair and 
inclusive health systems. 
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Leadership and Management Development program participants  
Back: Stewart Chinn, Shakti Bhardwaj, Maddy Novak, Tahlia Christofersen,  

Jen Desrosiers, Cass Inkley, Caroline Watkin, Josie Cunningham
Centre: Dana Deklin, Leena Ganguli,

Front: Eugene Fernandez (convenor), Rebecca Wemm, Apurva Shetty, Kista Ho,  
Wayne Tran

Participants not in photo:  Brooke Pearson, Kaylene Sterry, Beau Johnson  
and Lana Duke.

“It has helped me develop and improve not only 
as a leader, but also as an individual.”

“Invaluable learning in the leadership setting. 
The program is led by an expert.”



Accreditat ion of  Medical  Programs

The AMC develops standards for medical education 
and training in all phases of medical education. The 
standards define the knowledge, skills and profes-
sional attributes expected at the end of basic medical 
training and specialist medical training, and good prac-
tice in the delivery of medical education and training. 
Through its accreditation processes, the AMC assesses 
and monitors education providers and their medical 
programs against these standards. Medical programs 
that meet the standards are granted accreditation.

AMC processes entail both accreditation (validating 
that standards are met) and peer review to promote 
high standards of medical education, stimulate 
self-analysis and assist the organisation under review 
to achieve its objectives. Accreditation is conducted in 
a collegial manner that includes consultation, advice 
and feedback to the organisation under review.

AMC accreditation processes apply to:

•	 primary medical education programs provided by 
university medical schools

•	 the internship, the first year after medical school, 
which is a year of supervised work based training

•	 specialist medical programs provided by national 
specialist medical colleges

•	 Continuing professional development (CPD) Homes

•	 programs for endorsement of registration of 
medical practitioners for cosmetic surgery

•	 programs for endorsement of registration of 
medical practitioners for acupuncture

•	 workplace based assessment programs for interna-
tional medical graduates

•	 pre-employment structured clinical interviews

The AMC’s standards, processes and reports are also 
relied upon by the Medical Council of New Zealand to 
make decisions about programs that are acceptable 
qualifications for registration in New Zealand.

Review process

The AMC establishes accreditation assessment teams 
to assess programs and their providers. Using a peer 
review process, these teams assess medical programs 
against the approved accreditation standards and 
prepare a report on their findings. 

Assessment team findings are considered by the 
relevant AMC Standing Committee (Medical School 
Accreditation Committee, Specialist Education 
Accreditation Committee, and Prevocational Standards 
Accreditation Committee) and the recommendations 
of these Committees by the AMC Directors. 

The AMC may grant accreditation if it is reasonably 
satisfied that a program of study and its provider: 

•	 MEET an approved accreditation standard or 

•	 SUBSTANTIALLY MEET an approved accreditation 
standard and the imposition of conditions on 
the approval will ensure the program meets the 
standard within a reasonable time.

In 2023-24 the AMC made the accreditation decisions 
listed below. Each decision on an accredited program 
of study and education provider was reported to the 
Medical Board of Australia (MBA). The MBA makes 
an independent decision on whether to approve 
programs for the purposes of registration and lists 
approved programs on the MBA website. 

AMC accreditation reports and provider monitoring 
reports for medical schools, and bi-national and 
Australian specialist medical colleges are also used by 
the Medical Council New Zealand to make decisions 
about acceptable qualifications for the purposes of 
registration in New Zealand. Approved programs are 
listed on the website.

Full reports are available on the AMC’s website.  
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http://www.medicalboard.gov.au
https://www.mcnz.org.nz/
https://www.amc.org.au/accredited-organisations/accreditation-reports/ 
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Medical School Accreditation 
Committee
The Medical School Accreditation Committee manages 
the AMC assessments of medical education providers 
in Australia and New Zealand.

Its role is:

•	 Addressing policy related to medical schools and 
primary medical qualifications

•	 Reviewing standards – the Revised standards came 
into effect 1 January 2024

•	 Reviewing procedures – updated to reflect the 
revised standards

•	 Approving assessment team membership

•	 Making recommendations to AMC Directors on 
accreditation decisions and any related conditions

•	 Monitoring medical schools against the stand-
ards and progress towards meeting outstanding 
conditions 

•	 Reviewing changes to the way in which medical 
schools meet the accreditation standards and 
determining consequential review and monitoring 
activity.

Membership as at 30 June 2024: 

	~ Professor Jane Dahlstrom OAM (Chair)
	~ Dr Kenneth Clark
	~ Associate Professor Bradleigh Hayhow
	~ Professor Jeff Hamdorf AM
	~ Professor Inam Haq
	~ Professor Sandra Kemp
	~ Professor Kylie Mansfield
	~ Dr Shyamsundar Muthuramalingam
	~ Professor Papaarangi Reid 
	~ Professor Gary Rogers
	~ Professor Anna Ryan
	~ Tisshapaa Sivagnanan
	~ Professor Diane Stephens OAM
	~ Dr Artiene Tatian
	~ Associate Professor Mary White
	~ Professor Tim Wilkinson

Non-current members serving during 2023-24: 

	~ Fergus Leicester
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Primary medical programs and 
providers 

Accreditation assessments: 
reaccreditation assessments 

Australian National University, School of Medicine 
and Psychology

The Australian National University, School of Medicine 
and Psychology offers a four-year Medicinae ac 
Chirurgiae Doctoranda (MChD).

In July 2023 the AMC conducted a reaccreditation 
assessment on site at the university campus and 
health services.

At their 8 February 2024 meeting, Directors resolved:

i.	 that the four-year Medicinae ac Chirurgiae 
Doctoranda (MChD) medical program of the 
Australian National University, School of Medicine 
and Psychology substantially meets the accredita-
tion standards.

ii.	 accreditation of four-year Medicinae ac Chirurgiae 
Doctoranda (MChD) medical program of the 
Australian National University, School of Medicine 
and Psychology be granted for four years, to 31 
March 2028; subject to meeting the conditions 
contained in the accreditation report and to 
meeting the monitoring requirements of the AMC.

University of New South Wales, Faculty of Medicine 
and Health

The University of New South Wales, Faculty of 
Medicine and Health offers a six-year Bachelor of 
Medical Studies and Doctor of Medicine (BMedMD) 
medical program and a three-year Doctor of Medicine 
(MD).

In September 2023 the AMC conducted a reaccredita-
tion assessment on site at the university campus and 
health services.

At their 8 February 2024 meeting, Directors resolved:

i.	 that the six-year Bachelor of Medical Studies and 
Doctor of Medicine (BMedMD) medical program 
and three-year Doctor of Medicine (MD) medical 
program of the University of New South Wales, 
Faculty of Medicine and Health substantially meet 
the accreditation standards.

ii.	 accreditation of six-year Bachelor of Medical 
Studies and Doctor of Medicine (BMedMD) medical 
program and three-year Doctor of Medicine (MD) 
medical program of the University of New South 
Wales, Faculty of Medicine and Health be granted 
for six years, to 31 March 2030; subject to meeting 
the conditions contained in the accreditation 
report and to meeting the monitoring require-
ments of the AMC.

Accreditation assessments: follow up 
assessments 

University of Adelaide, Faculty of Health and Medical 
Sciences, School of Medicine

The University of Adelaide, Faculty of Health and 
Medical Sciences, School of Medicine offers a six-year 
Bachelor of Medicine/Bachelor of Surgery (MBBS) 
medical program and a six-year Bachelor of Medical 
Studies and Doctor of Medicine (BMD) medical 
program.

The Bachelor of Medicine/Bachelor of Surgery (MBBS) 
is in a process of teach-out with no new enrolments 
from January 2022.

Following the 2022 reaccreditation assessment, 
accreditation of the medical programs was subject to 
conditions, monitoring requirements of the AMC; and 
a follow-up assessment in 2023 or 2024 that includes 
clinical sites where the programs are delivered.

In October 2023 a sub-group of the AMC assessment 
team that conducted the reaccreditation assessment 
undertook a follow-up assessment.

At their 8 February 2024 meeting, Directors resolved:

i.	 that the six-year Bachelor of Medicine/Bachelor 
of Surgery (MBBS) medical program and six-year 
Bachelor of Medical Studies and Doctor of 
Medicine (BMD) medical program of the University 
of Adelaide, Faculty of Health and Medical 
Sciences, School of Medicine substantially meet the 
accreditation standards.
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ii.	 accreditation of the six-year Bachelor of Medicine/
Bachelor of Surgery (MBBS) medical program 
and six-year Bachelor of Medical Studies and 
Doctor of Medicine (BMD) medical program of 
the University of Adelaide, Faculty of Health and 
Medical Sciences, School of Medicine be granted 
for up to four years, to 31 March 2029; subject to 
meeting the conditions contained in the accredita-
tion report and to meeting the monitoring require-
ments of the AMC.

James Cook University, College of Medicine and 
Dentistry

The James Cook University, College of Medicine and 
Dentistry offers a six-year Bachelor of Medicine/
Bachelor of Surgery (MBBS) medical program.

In 2022, the College informed the AMC of its intent to 
begin delivery of the program from Year 1 at Cairns. In 
December 2022, a sub-group of the AMC assessment 
team that conducted the reaccreditation assessment 
undertook a follow-up assessment. 

The assessment included a series of online meet-
ings with the College and program leadership team, 
student representative, the Cairns and Hinterland 
Hospital and Health Service executive and clinicians 
and staff who will be contributing to the teaching Year 
1 of the Cairns pathway prior to the commencement of 
the stream at Cairns in 2023.

At their 15 May 2024 meeting, Directors resolved:

i.	 that the six-year Bachelor of Medicine/Bachelor 
of Surgery (MBBS) medical program of the James 
Cook University, College of Medicine and Dentistry 
substantially meets the accreditation standards.

ii.	 that accreditation of the program includes the 
addition of three new conditions on the College’s 
accreditation.

Accreditation assessments: material 
changes

Education providers must notify the AMC of material 
changes that may affect whether and how they or 
their medical program continue to meet the accred-
itation standards. Examples of material change are 
set out in the procedures and include a change in the 
length or format of the program, the introduction of 
new distinct streams/pathways, substantial changes to 
cohort numbers and substantial changes to program 
resources. The Committee will assess the plans against 
the accreditation standards prior to implementation 
and may constitute an AMC accreditation assessment 
team to undertake activities such as interviews with 
staff, students and health services to support the 
Committee’s assessment.

Nil for this report

Accreditation assessments:  
Stage 1 assessment of new development

Institutions contemplating the establishment of a 
primary medical program should conduct independent 
negotiations with the appropriate state/territory and 
national authorities concerning student places and 
clinical facilities. If a decision is made by the relevant 
authorities to support the establishment of a new 
medical program, the AMC undertakes the assessment 
against the approved accreditation standards. 

Institutions require considerable time to design and 
plan a new medical program and to organise the 
necessary resources. By advising the AMC early of 
their intentions, institutions have access to general 
advice on the accreditation standards, and flexibility 
in negotiating the timing of the AMC assessment. The 
AMC expects to receive notification of an institution’s 
intention when planning begins. It would expect this to 
be at least 24 months in advance of intended program 
commencement.

Once the institution has notified the AMC of its 
intention, the AMC will provide a guide for completion 
of the initial (Stage 1) submission. The AMC judges 
the institution’s readiness for assessment on the basis 
of this submission. The submission must address the 
standards and outline the curriculum for the medical 
program and the resources including clinical teaching 
resources available to deliver the program. Evidence of 
support for the program from the relevant state and 
national authorities must also be provided.

University of Western Australia (UWA) and University 
of Arizona (UA) Global MD 

On October 2022, the University of Western Australia 
in Perth and the University of Arizona (UA) Health 
Science in Tucson, Arizona informally advised the AMC 
of their intention to form a new collaborative Global 
MD Program with the first two years of the program 
based in Perth, Australia, and the final two years of 
the program based in Arizona, USA. The University 
of Western Australia provided the AMC with a notice 
of intent for a proposed offshore partnership in 
December 2022.
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The UWA team provided a Stage 1 submission in 
February 2023.

The Committee considered the stage 1 submission in 
March and December 2023. On both occasions the 
Committee found the proposal had not satisfactorily 
addressed the requirements of 3.2.3 of the proce-
dures/the policy on overseas provision and further 
consideration by the provider would be required to 
progress the submission.

At their March 2024 meeting, on the basis of the Stage 
1 submission and further information provided, the 
Committee agreed that the proposal met the require-
ments under 3.2.3 of the Procedures (and Section 4 of 
the policy statement on offshore provision) such that 
the AMC should proceed with the Stage 2 accredita-
tion assessment.

At their 21 March 2024 meeting, Directors resolved:

i.	 To invite the University of Western Australia and 
University of Arizona to submit its program for 
Stage 2 assessment by an AMC team.

Charles Darwin University Menzies School of 
Medicine

In November 2022 the Charles Darwin University 
(CDU), Menzies School of Medicine advised the AMC of 
their intention to establish a new medical school based 
in Darwin. At the time, the Committee was unable 
to assess the proposal in the absence of funding or a 
definitive statement on student numbers.

In February 2024 Charles Darwin University secured 
funding from NT Health to support 40 students per 
annum, commencing in 2025. 

The School provided the AMC a Stage 1 submission 
in February 2024 (this program was assessed against 
revised 2023 standards).

At their May 2024 meeting, on the basis of the Stage 1 
submission, the Committee agreed that the proposal 
meets the requirements of a Stage 1 submission and 
recommended that the AMC proceed with the Stage 2 
accreditation assessment.

At their 15 May 2024 meeting, Directors resolved:

i.	 To invite the Charles Darwin University, CDU 
Menzies School of Medicine to submit its program 
for Stage 2 assessment by an AMC team.

Accreditation assessments: extension of 
accreditation 

The AMC considers requests for extension via an 
accreditation extension submission. In the submis-
sion, the education provider is expected to provide 
evidence that it continues to meet the accreditation 
standards, and that it has maintained its standard 
of education and of resources. The submission also 
provides an appraisal of the developments since 
accreditation, and information on plans leading up 
to the next AMC reaccreditation. The education 
provider’s student society is also invited to contribute 
to the submission. The Committee may decide that 
that review of the submission should entail discus-
sions with the education provider or an assessment 
by an AMC team. If, on the basis of the submission, 
the Committee decides that the education provider 
is continuing to satisfy the accreditation standards, 
it may recommend that the AMC Directors extend 
the accreditation of the program(s). The period of 

extension possible is usually three to four years, taking 
the accreditation to the full period that the AMC will 
grant between assessments, which is ten years. At the 
end of this extension, the education provider and its 
programs undergo a reaccreditation assessment.

From time to time, the AMC may also extend accred-
itation of programs to respond to specific situations, 
for example to enable teach out of a program when 
students’ studies have been interrupted. In this situa-
tion the Committee assesses the program and provider 
against the accreditation standards and, if satisfied 
that the program continues to meet or substantially 
meet the standards it makes a recommendation to the 
AMC Directors on the period of extension.

Monash University, Faculty of Medicine, Nursing and 
Health Sciences

The Monash University, Faculty of Medicine, Nursing 
and Health Sciences offers a four-year (graduate entry) 
and five-year (direct entry) Bachelor of Bachelor of 
Medical Science / Doctor of Medicine (BMedSc/MD).

In May 2023 a submission for extension of accredita-
tion was considered by the Committee.

While there were no outstanding accreditation condi-
tions on the program, the Committee raised some 
concerns regarding adequate access to cultural safety/
awareness training through the course and challenges 
in recruiting Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander 
teaching staff and recommended a new condition 
under standard 1 be imposed on accreditation. 
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At their 10 August 2023 meeting, Directors resolved:

i.	 that the accreditation extension submission 
indicates that the Monash University, Faculty of 
Medicine, Nursing and Health Sciences and its 
medical program continue to meet the accredita-
tion standards.

ii.	 that accreditation of the program is subject to 
the addition of a new condition and meeting the 
monitoring requirements of the AMC

iii.	 to extend accreditation of the Monash University, 
Faculty of Medicine, Nursing and Health Sciences 
and its medical program for four years to 31 March 
2028.

University of Notre Dame Australia, School of 
Medicine Sydney

The University of Notre Dame Australia, School 
of Medicine Sydney, offers a four-year Doctor of 
Medicine (MD). 

In August 2023 a submission for extension of accred-
itation was considered by the Committee. The 
Committee found standard 1 to be substantially met 
given slow progress against Condition 2.

At their 26 October 2023 meeting, Directors resolved:

i.	 that the University of Notre Dame Australia, School 
of Medicine Sydney and its medical program 
continue to meet the accreditation standards.

ii.	 that standard 1 was found to be substantially met.

iii.	 to extend accreditation of the University of Notre 
Dame Australia, School of Medicine Sydney and 
its medical program for three years to 31 March 
2027 to align with the accreditation expiry of the 
University’s Fremantle medical program and allow 
future reporting as a single National School of 
Medicine.

Extension of accreditation

Western Sydney University, School of Medicine

The Western Syndey University offers a five-year 
Bachelor of Clinical Sciences/Doctor of Medicine 
(BClinSci/MD) – jointly delivered as part of the Joint 
Program in Medicine with Charles Sturt University; and 
a five-year Bachelor of Medicine/Bachelor of Surgery 
(MBBS). 

The five-year Bachelor of Medicine/Bachelor of 
Surgery (MBBS) is in teach-out however it was identi-
fied that a small number of students were still enrolled 
and due to complete in 2024. Given the possibility of 
further extensions of and/or time out of training for 
these students, the Committee agreed to recommend 
that this program be extended to 31 March 2027, to 
align with the accreditation of the BClinSci/MD.

At their 10 August 2023 meeting, Directors resolved:

i.	 that the Western Sydney University, School of 
Medicine and its medical programs continue to 
meet the accreditation standards.

ii.	 that an extension of accreditation of the MBBS be 
granted for three years to 31 March 2027 (to align 
with the accreditation of the BClinSci/MD).

New conditions set in the monitoring 
process

University of Tasmania, College of Health and 
Medicine, School of Medicine

At its August 2023 meeting, the Committee considered 
the 2023 monitoring submission from the University 
of Tasmania, College of Health and Medicine, School of 
Medicine. The Committee agreed that the School and 
its program were meeting the accreditation standards 
overall. However, the Committee had some concerns 
around the availability of student study spaces/facili-
ties to pre-clinical students, and as a result, found that 
Standard 8 was substantially met and, in line with the 
section 50 of the National Law, recommended that 
Directors place a condition on the accreditation of the 
program and provider to ensure that the standard is 
met in a timely manner.

At their 26 October 2023 meeting, Directors resolved:

i.	 to add one new condition to the accreditation 
of the education provider and its program to be 
addressed in 2024.
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Prevocational Standards 
Accreditation Committee  
The Prevocational Standards Accreditation Committee 
oversees the AMC’s role in setting standards for 
elements of the prevocational phase of the medical 
education continuum. 

The Committee reports to the AMC Directors on its 
oversight of AMC accreditation and approval processes 
for intern training accreditation authorities, Workplace 
Based Assessment providers, and pre-employment 
structured clinical interview providers. It also provides 
advice to the MBA on matters relating to competent 
authorities.

Membership as at 30 June 2024:

	~ Associate Professor Andrew Singer AM (Chair)
	~ Dr Georga Cooke (Deputy Chair)
	~ Associate Professor Katrina Anderson 
	~ Professor Stuart Carney
	~ Dr Hwee Sin Chong
	~ Dr Sheree Conroy
	~ Emeritus Professor Brendan Crotty AM
	~ Bianca Field
	~ Professor Nicky Hudson
	~ Dr Jo Katsoris
	~ Debra Letica
	~ Associate Professor Maria Mackay
	~ Dr Vidya Muraleedharan
	~ Dr John Roe
	~ Dr Matthew Spotswood
	~ Dr Greg Sweetman
	~ Professor John Vassiliadis
	~ Dr Joshua Ward
	~ Dr Daniel Zou

Non-current members serving during 2023-24: 

	~ Associate Professor Amanda Dawson
	~ Kate Griggs
	~ Dr Ruth Kearon

The Committee's role is: 

•	 Addressing policy related to the prevocational 
phase of training, the Workplace Based Assessment 
pathway for international medical graduates, 
pre-employment structured clinical interviews and 
matters relating to competent authorities

•	 Providing advice to the MBA on applications from 
existing or prospective competent authorities

•	 Reviewing standards

•	 Reviewing procedures

•	 Setting up teams for assessments of intern training 
accreditation authorities

•	 Making recommendations to AMC Directors on 
accreditation decisions and any related conditions

•	 Monitoring providers against the relevant 
standards and their progress towards meeting 
outstanding conditions 

•	 Reviewing changes to the way in which providers 
meet the accreditation standards and determining 
consequential review and monitoring activity.
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Intern Training Accreditation 
Authorities
The AMC reviews and accredits authorities that 
accredit intern training programs in each state and 
territory on behalf of the MBA. These authorities are 
commonly known as postgraduate medical councils 
(PMC). Prior to commencing accreditation activities, 
a new PMC will submit a paper-based application for 
initial accreditation to the AMC. If the AMC grants 
initial accreditation, and the MBA approves the 
authority, the PMC commences accreditation activi-
ties. The AMC schedules an accreditation assessment 
by an AMC team, usually within the first 18 months of 
operation. 

The AMC grants accreditation of new providers for a 
maximum of three years, and established providers 
for a maximum of five years subject to satisfactory 
monitoring submissions. In the last year of the accredi-
tation period, the provider may apply for an extension 
of accreditation through an accreditation extension 
submission, taking the provider up to a maximum of 
eight years before a reaccreditation assessment by an 
AMC team. 

Accreditation assessments: 
reaccreditation

South Australian Medical Education and Training 
Health Advisory Council (SA MET)

The South Australian Medical Education and Training 
Health Advisory Council (SA MET) is the intern 
training accreditation authority for South Australia. 
A reaccreditation assessment was undertaken over 
July-November 2022 using a hybrid model of virtual 
meetings and face-to-face meetings in Adelaide. 
The process was elongated due to the impact of 
the COVID-19 pandemic on South Australian health 
services, and to enable interns to participate in the 
review.

At the request of the Committee, AMC Directors at 
their 10 March 2023 meeting resolved:

•	 to extend the accreditation of the South Australian 
Medical Education and Training Health Advisory 
Council (SA MET) as an intern training accreditation 
authority for six months to 30 September 2023 to 
enable the AMC to undertake an internal review of 
the accreditation process before the Committee 
finalised the accreditation report.

The review was completed, and the Committee final-
ised the report in July 2023 for consideration by AMC 
Directors.

At their 10 August 2023 meeting, Directors resolved:

i.	 the South Australian Medical Education and 
Training Health Advisory Council substantially 
meets the domains for assessing intern training 
accreditation authorities.

ii.	 the South Australian Medical Education and 
Training Health Advisory Council be accredited 
as the intern training accreditation authority for 
South Australia, for four and a half years, to 31 
March 2028, subject to meeting AMC monitoring 
requirements including satisfactory annual moni-
toring to the AMC.

iii.	 accreditation is subject to the conditions described 
in the accreditation report.

Postgraduate Medical Council of Western Australia

The Postgraduate Medical Council of Western 
Australia (PMCWA) is the intern training accreditation 
authority for Western Australia. A reaccreditation 
assessment was undertaken over May 2023 using a 
hybrid model of virtual meetings and face-to-face 
meetings in Perth. The accreditation report was 
finalised by the Committee and submitted to AMC 
Directors.

At their 14 September 2023 meeting Directors 
resolved:

i.	 the Postgraduate Medical Council of Western 
Australia (PMCWA) substantially meets the 
domains for assessing accreditation authorities.

ii.	 the Postgraduate Medical Council of Western 
Australia (PMCWA) be accredited as the intern 
training accreditation authority for five years, to 31 
March 2029, subject to meeting AMC monitoring 
requirements including satisfactory annual moni-
toring submissions to the AMC.

iii.	 accreditation is subject to the conditions described 
in the accreditation report.
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Postgraduate Medical Council of Victoria

The Postgraduate Medical Council of Victoria (PMCV) 
is the intern training accreditation authority for 
Victoria. A reaccreditation assessment was undertaken 
over August 2023 using a hybrid model of virtual 
meetings and face-to-face meetings in Melbourne. The 
accreditation report was finalised by the Committee 
and submitted to AMC Directors.

At their 8 February 2024 meeting, Directors resolved:

i.	 the Postgraduate Medical Council of Victoria 
(PMCV) substantially meets the domains for 
assessing accreditation authorities.

ii.	 the Postgraduate Medical Council of Victoria 
(PMCV) be accredited as the intern training accred-
itation authority for five years, to 31 March 2029, 
subject to meeting AMC monitoring requirements 
including satisfactory annual monitoring submis-
sions to the AMC.

iii.	 accreditation is subject to the conditions described 
in the accreditation report.

Accreditation assessments: extension of 
accreditation

The AMC considers requests for extension via an 
accreditation extension submission. In the submission, 
the intern training accreditation authority is expected 
to provide evidence that it continues to meet the 
accreditation domains. The report also provides an 
appraisal of the developments since accreditation, 
and information on plans leading up to the next AMC 
reaccreditation. If, on the basis of the submission, the 

Committee decides that the authority is continuing to 
satisfy the accreditation domains, it may recommend 
that the AMC Directors extend the accreditation. The 
period of extension possible is usually two to three 
years, taking the accreditation to the full period that 
the AMC will grant between assessments, which is 
eight years. At the end of this extension, the authority 
undergoes a reaccreditation assessment. 

Nil for this report

Workplace Based Assessment 
(WBA) Providers 
Under the AMC Accreditation of Workplace Based 
Assessment Providers: Standards and Procedures, the 
Prevocational Standards Accreditation Committee 
assesses applications for initial accreditation against 
the accreditation standards. The Committee also seeks 
advice from the Chair of the Assessment Committee 
on the assessment plan. On the recommendation 
of the Committee, AMC Directors may grant initial 
accreditation to new WBA providers subject to satis-
factory progress reports, until the WBA Results Panel 
of the Assessment Committee evaluates the results of 
the first cohort of candidates. 

Initial accreditation

Four providers submitted an application for initial 
accreditation. 

Metro North Hospital and Health Service 

Metro North Hospital and Health Service’s applica-
tion for accreditation, along with feedback from the 

Chairs of the Assessment Committee and WBA Results 
Panel on the assessment plan, was considered by the 
Committee in August 2023.

AMC Directors at their 14 September 2023 meeting 
granted initial accreditation to Metro North Hospital 
and Health Service, subject to satisfactory monitoring 
submissions, until the Assessment Committee evalu-
ates the results of the first cohort of candidates.

Mackay Hospital and Health Service 

Mackay Hospital and Health Service’s application for 
accreditation, along with feedback from the Chairs 
of the Assessment Committee and WBA Results 
Panel on the assessment plan, was considered by the 
Committee in August 2023.

AMC Directors at their 14 September 2023 meeting 
granted initial accreditation to Mackay Hospital and 
Health Service, subject to satisfactory monitoring 
submissions, until the Assessment Committee evalu-
ates the results of the first cohort of candidates.

Nepean Blue Mountains Local Health District 

Nepean Blue Mountains Local Health District’s appli-
cation for accreditation, along with feedback from the 
Chairs of the Assessment Committee and WBA Results 
Panel on the assessment plan, was considered by the 
Committee in November 2023.

AMC Directors at their 13 December 2023 meeting 
granted initial accreditation to Nepean Blue Mountains 
Local Health District, subject to satisfactory moni-
toring submissions, until the Assessment Committee 
evaluates the results of the first cohort of candidates.
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Darling Downs Hospital and Health Service 

Darling Downs Hospital and Health Service’s applica-
tion for accreditation, along with feedback from the 
Chair of the WBA Results Panel on the assessment 
plan, was considered by the Committee in March 2024.

AMC Directors at their 15 May 2024 meeting granted 
initial accreditation to Darling Downs Hospital and 
Health Service, subject to satisfactory monitoring 
submissions, until the Assessment Committee evalu-
ates the results of the first cohort of candidates.

Extension of accreditation

Under the AMC Accreditation of Workplace Based 
Assessment Providers: Standards and Procedures, 
accredited providers undergo a reaccreditation assess-
ment at least every four years. Reaccreditation assess-
ments are informed by an accreditation extension 
submission and the AMC’s experience in monitoring 
the provider and workplace based program over the 
accreditation period. AMC Directors make an accred-
itation decision on advice from the Prevocational 
Standards Accreditation Committee. 

One provider submitted a report on conditions:

Launceston General Hospital

Launceston General Hospital’s accreditation exten-
sion submission was considered by the Committee in 
March 2023.

The Committee raised concerns that a large number 
of assessors have not been re-calibrated in align-
ment with the AMC requirement of calibration 
every 24 months. This feedback had been provided 

to the Launceston General Hospital program over 
recent monitoring reviews with little to no progres-
sion or evidence of strategy to provide sufficient 
training sessions for assessors. As a result of this, the 
Committee agreed that Standard 7 be considered not 
met and that a new condition be imposed on accred-
itation to ensure that this standard is met in a timely 
manner. The Committee agreed to recommend that 
Directors resolve that a shorter period of accreditation 
be granted to ensure that the condition is addressed.

The Directors at their 13 April 2023 meeting agreed 
to reaccredit Launceston General Hospital and its 
Workplace Based Assessment program for 12 months 
to 30 June 2024 subject to satisfactory monitoring 
submissions to the AMC and meeting the accreditation 
condition imposed.

At their 21 August 2023 meeting, the Committee 
considered the further information (report on condi-
tion) by Launceston General Hospital’s and agreed that 
the program had made appropriate progress against 
the concerns and found Standard 7 to be met. The 
program was eligible for an extension of accreditation 
for a further three years to 30 June 2027.

At their 14 September 2023 meeting, Directors 
resolved:

i.	 the Launceston General Hospital and its workplace 
based assessment program meet the accredita-
tion standards for workplace based assessment 
providers, and

ii.	 to accredit Launceston General Hospital and its 
workplace based assessment program for a further 
three years, to 30 June 2027, subject to the moni-
toring of the AMC. 

Short extension of accreditation

Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service

In 2024 the Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service 
will be considered for reaccreditation as a Workplace 
Based Assessment provider for a further four years. 
The program’s current accreditation was due to expire 
on 30 June 2024. 

The paper-based assessment of the Wide Bay program 
was scheduled for the Committee’s July 2024 meeting. 
Given the current scheduling of annual monitoring, 
and in discussion with the provider, to ensure that 
annual reporting is not disrupted a short administra-
tive extension of the program was requested (for three 
months), to allow the Wide Bay WBA program to be 
assessed against the current reporting schedule.

At their 8 February 2024 meeting, Directors resolved:

i.	 the Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service and its 
workplace based assessment program continue to 
meet the accreditation standards for workplace 
based assessment providers, and

ii.	 approved a short administrative extension of 
accreditation of the workplace based assessment 
program for three months to 30 September 2024.

Australian Medical Council Ltd 2023-24 Annual Report 56



Accreditation

For providers with initial accreditation, the 
Assessment Committee will consider all the results of 
the candidates to establish that the overall result is 
valid and that the AMC Certificate should be awarded. 
If the Assessment Committee identifies no deficiencies 
in the assessment program plan and/or in the results 
of the first cohort of candidates, and the Prevocational 
Standards Accreditation Committee determines that 
accreditation standards continue to be met, the 
Prevocational Standards Accreditation Committee may 
recommend that AMC Directors grant accreditation to 
the provider.

Northern Adelaide Local Health Network

The Committee considered the Northern Adelaide 
Local Health Network monitoring submission and 
reviewer commentary at their meeting on 20 March 
2023. As per the 2022 initial accreditation decision, 
the Committee was asked to make a decision on the 
period of accreditation following the WBA Results 
Panel consideration of the first cohort results at their 
meetings in May/July 2023.

Directors at their 14 September 2023 meeting 
resolved:

i.	 the Northern Adelaide Local Health Network and 
its workplace based assessment program substan-
tially meet the accreditation standards for work-
place based assessment providers, and

ii.	 to grant accreditation to the Northern Adelaide 
Local Health Network and its workplace based 
assessment program for the maximum period of 
four years, to 30 June 2027, subject to the moni-
toring of the AMC.

South Western Sydney Local Health District 

The Committee considered the South Western Sydney 
Local Health District monitoring submission and 
reviewer commentary at their meeting on 21 August 
2023. As per the 2021 initial accreditation decision, 
the Committee was asked to make a decision on the 
period of accreditation following the WBA Results 
Panel consideration of the first cohort results at their 
meetings in December 2022.

Directors at their 14 September 2023 meeting 
resolved:

i.	 the South Western Sydney Local Health District and 
its workplace based assessment program substan-
tially meet the accreditation standards for work-
place based assessment providers, and

ii.	 to grant accreditation to the South Western Sydney 
Local Health District and its workplace based 
assessment program for the maximum period of 
four years, to 30 June 2027, subject to the moni-
toring of the AMC.

Central Queensland Hospital and Health Service 

The Committee considered the Central Queensland 
Hospital and Health Service monitoring submission 
and reviewer commentary at their meeting on 25 
March 2024. As per the 2022 initial accreditation deci-
sion, the Committee was asked to make a decision on 
the period of accreditation following the WBA Results 

Panel consideration of the first cohort results at their 
meetings in February 2024.

Directors at their 15 May 2024 meeting resolved:

i.	 the Central Queensland Hospital and Health Service 
and its workplace based assessment program 
substantially meet the accreditation standards for 
workplace based assessment providers, and

ii.	 to grant accreditation to the Central Queensland 
Hospital and Health Service and its workplace 
based assessment program for the maximum 
period of four years, to 30 June 2028, subject to 
the monitoring of the AMC.

Joondalup Health Campus

The Committee considered the Joondalup Health 
Campus monitoring submission and reviewer commen-
tary at their meeting on 20 May 2024. As per the 2022 
initial accreditation decision, the Committee was 
asked to make a decision on the period of accredita-
tion following the WBA Results Panel consideration of 
the first cohort results at their meetings in December 
2023.

Directors at their 13 June 2024 meeting resolved:

i.	 the Joondalup Health Campus and its workplace 
based assessment program substantially meet 
the accreditation standards for workplace based 
assessment providers, and

ii.	 to grant accreditation to the Joondalup Health 
Campus and its workplace based assessment 
program for the maximum period of four years, 
to 30 June 2028, subject to the monitoring of the 
AMC.
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Monitoring and changes related to the 
consequences of COVID-19

While usual reporting resumed in 2021, the Committee 
continued to monitor ongoing impacts to providers 
as a consequence of COVID-19 through annual moni-
toring in 2023/24. The AMC advised WBA providers 
to continue to notify the AMC and seek approval of 
potential changes to the assessment plan in advance 
of their implementation. Over 2022-23 no change 
requests were sought. 

Changes to WBA programs and 
providers

During 2023-24 the AMC approved changes to the 
WBA programs of the following providers: 

•	 Mildura Base Public Hospital (Increase to cohort 
and new site of delivery)

•	 Central Queensland Hospital and Health Service 
(Increase to cohort)

•	 South Western Sydney Local Health District (New 
sites of delivery)

•	 Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service (Minor 
change to assessment plan)

•	 Mackay Hospital and Health Service (New sites of 
delivery)

•	 Gold Coast Hospital and Health Service (Increase to 
cohort)

Pre-Employment Structured 
Clinical Interview Providers 
International medical graduates applying for limited 
registration or provisional registration may be 
required to undergo a pre-employment structured 
clinical interview (PESCI). The information obtained 
from the PESCI is considered by the MBA when it 
decides whether to grant registration.

A PESCI is an objective assessment of knowledge, 
skills, clinical experience and attributes to determine 
whether the international medical graduate is suitable 
to practise in a specific position. The PESCI consists of 
a structured clinical interview using scenarios.

Organisations conducting PESCI’s must be accredited 
by the AMC. Applications from prospective PESCI 
providers are assessed by the Prevocational Standards 
Accreditation Committee through a paper-based 
process. Accredited providers are required to submit 
monitoring reports to the AMC (usually annually) and 
this information is considered along with information 
from the MBA on PESCIs undertaken by the accredited 
providers.

During 2023/24, the Committee monitored the three 
accredited PESCI providers:

•	 Australian College of Rural and Remote Medicine 

•	 Royal Australian College of General Practitioners

•	 Institute of Medical Education (METC Institute)
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Specialist Medical Education and 
Training
The Specialist Education Accreditation Committee 
manages the process for assessing and accrediting 
the medical education and training programs of the 
specialist training providers – the specialist medical 
colleges. It also manages assessment and accreditation 
of:

•	 Programs of study for endorsement of registration 
for acupuncture for medical practitioners

•	 Continuing Professional Development (CPD) homes

This Committee provides advice to the MBA on 
applications for recognition and approval of new or 
amended specialties.

Membership as at 30 June 2024:

	~ Professor Robyn Langham AM (Chair)
	~ Dr Lindy Roberts AM (Deputy Chair)
	~ Dr Hashim Abdeen
	~ Dr Walter Abhayaratna
	~ Dr Emmanuel Anthony
	~ Dr Jeff Brown
	~ Dr Caroline Clarke
	~ Dr Brian Fernandes
	~Ms Jacqui Gibson 
	~ Dr Kim Hill
	~ Dr Tammy Kimpton
	~ Associate Professor Vinay Lakra
	~ Professor Andrew Wilson
	~Ms Helen Maxwell-Wright
	~ Professor Phillippa Poole ONZM
	~Ms Kiri Rikihana
	~ Associate Professor Alan Sandford AM
	~ Dr Andrew Singer AM*
	~ Dr Philip Truskett AM
	~ Professor Andrew Wilson

*Technical Advisor non-voting member

Non-current members serving during 2023-24: 

	~ Dr Vijay Roach
	~ Professor Marc Gladman
	~ Dr Sarah Nicolson
	~ Dr Margaret Wilsher

Role: 

•	 Addressing policy related to medical specialist 
colleges and specialist training 

•	 Developing, monitoring and reviewing criteria 
and procedures relating to the accreditation of 
Continuing Professional Development (CPD) homes

•	 Providing advice to the MBA on applications for 
recognition for new medical specialties and fields 
of specialty practice 

•	 Reviewing standards

•	 Reviewing procedures

•	 Setting up assessment teams

•	 Making recommendations to AMC Directors on 
accreditation decisions and any related conditions

•	 Monitoring providers against the standards and 
their progress towards meeting outstanding 
conditions 

•	 Reviewing changes to the way in which providers 
meet the accreditation standards and determining 
consequential review and monitoring activity.
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Specialist Medical College training 
and education programs

Accreditation assessments: 
reaccreditation

Royal Australian and New Zealand College of 
Obstetricians and Gynaecologists

In July 2023 the AMC completed a reaccreditation 
assessment of the Royal Australian and New Zealand 
College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists. AMC 
Directors, at their 13 December 2023 meeting, 
resolved that:

(i)	 the Royal Australian and New Zealand College 
of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists’ specialist 
medical programs in the recognised medical 
specialties of obstetrics and gynaecology substan-
tially meet the approved accreditation standards;

(ii)	the Royal Australian and New Zealand College 
of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists’ specialist 
medical training programs in the specialty of 
obstetrics and gynaecology and the following fields 
of specialty practice be granted accreditation for 
six years until 31 March 2030, subject to satisfying 
AMC monitoring requirements including moni-
toring submissions and addressing accreditation 
conditions set out in the report:

•	 gynaecological oncology

•	 maternal-fetal medicine

•	 obstetrics and gynaecological ultrasound

•	 reproductive endocrinology

•	 infertility and urogynaecology; and

(iii)	the College will be required to make accredita-
tion extension submissions in 2029. Based on the 
accreditation extension submission, the AMC will 
consider if the College’s programs continue to meet 
or substantially meet the accreditation standards 
and may extend accreditation by another four 
years until 31 March 2034. This takes accreditation 
to the full period of ten years the AMC may grant 
between assessments.

Accreditation assessments: follow-up

Royal Australian and New Zealand College of 
Radiologists

In August 2023 the AMC completed a follow-up assess-
ment of the Royal Australian and New Zealand College 
of Radiologists. AMC Directors, at their 13 December 
2023 meeting, resolved that:

(i)	 the Royal Australian and New Zealand College of 
Radiologists specialist medical programs in the 
recognised medical specialties of radiology and 
radiation oncology substantially meet the approved 
accreditation standards;

(ii)	the Royal Australian and New Zealand College of 
Radiologists specialist medical training programs in 
radiology and radiation oncology specialist medical 
program be granted accreditation for three years 
until 31 March 2027, subject to satisfying AMC 
monitoring requirements including monitoring 
submissions and addressing accreditation condi-
tions set out in the report; and

(iii)	the College will be required to make an accred-
itation extension submission in 2026. Based on 
the accreditation extension submission on the 
standards, the AMC will consider if the College’s 
programs continue to meet or substantially meet 
the accreditation standards and may extend 
accreditation by another three years until 31 
March 2030. This takes accreditation to the full 
period of ten years the AMC may grant between 
assessments.

Accreditation assessments: extension of 
accreditation

The AMC considers requests for extension via an 
accreditation extension submission. In the submis-
sion, the education provider is expected to provide 
evidence that it continues to meet the accreditation 
standards, and that it has maintained its standard 
of education and of resources. The submission also 
provides an appraisal of the developments since 
accreditation, and information on plans leading up 
to the next AMC reaccreditation. The education 
provider’s trainee representative body is also invited 
to contribute to the submission. The Committee may 
decide that that review of the submission should 
entail discussions with the education provider or an 
assessment by an AMC team. If, on the basis of the 
submission, the Committee decides that the education 
provider is continuing to satisfy the accreditation 
standards, it may recommend that the AMC Directors 
extend the accreditation of the program(s). The period 
of extension possible is usually three to four years, 
taking the accreditation to the full period that the 
AMC will grant between assessments, which is ten 
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years. At the end of this extension, the education 
provider and its programs undergo a reaccreditation 
assessment.

From time to time, the AMC may also extend accred-
itation of programs to respond to specific situations, 
for example to enable teach out of a program when 
students’ studies have been interrupted. In this situa-
tion the Committee assesses the program and provider 
against the accreditation standards and, if satisfied 
that the program continues to meet or substantially 
meet the standards it makes a recommendation to the 
AMC Directors on the period of extension.

Australasian College of Dermatologists

At their meeting on 23 November 2023 meeting, AMC 
Directors resolved that:

(i)	 that the Australasian College of Dermatologists 
training and education program, in the recognised 
specialty of Dermatology, substantially meet the 
accreditation standards; and

(ii)	to extend the accreditation of the Australasian 
College of Dermatologists training and educa-
tion program, in the recognised specialty of 
Dermatology by four years, to 31 March 2028.

Royal Australasian College of Surgeons

At their meeting on 8 February 2024 meeting, AMC 
Directors resolved that:

(i)	 that the Royal Australasian College of Surgeons 
training and education programs, in the recog-
nised specialties of Surgery, substantially meet the 
accreditation standards; and

(ii)	to extend the accreditation of the Royal 
Australasian College of Surgeons training and 
education programs, in the specialty of Surgery and 
the following fields of specialty practice, until 31 
October 2024:

•	 cardiothoracic surgery

•	 general surgery

•	 neurosurgery

•	 orthopaedic surgery

•	 otolaryngology - head and neck surgery

•	 paediatric surgery

•	 plastic surgery

•	 urology 

•	 vascular surgery

Short extension of accreditation

Royal Australasian College of Medical Administrators

At their 21 March 2024 meeting, AMC Directors 
resolved:

(i)	 to EXTEND the accreditation of the Royal 
Australasian College of Medical Administrators 
training and education program, in the specialty 
of Medical Administration, by six months, until 31 
October 2025

Continuing Professional 
Development (CPD) homes
In 2023 the registration framework for continuing 
professional development in Australia changed as 
the MBA’s new Registration Standard: Continuing 
Professional Development came into effect with tran-
sition arrangements for 2023. From 2024 all doctors 
other than those exempt by the standard, are required 
to join a CPD home to support their continuing profes-
sional development. To enable the new registration 
standard, in 2022 the AMC developed standards and 
procedures for the accreditation of CPD homes. This 
accreditation process superseded the AMC’s previous 
accreditation process and standard relating to contin-
uing professional development programs provided by 
AMC accredited specialist medical colleges. 

The AMC now reviews and makes decisions on appli-
cations from organisations to become a CPD home 
and assures the quality of CPD homes to ensure they 
provide CPD programs that are robust, monitored 
and evaluated, and meet the requirements of the 
MBA’s Registration Standard: Continuing Professional 
Development through its monitoring process. 

Accreditation assessments: initial 
accreditation of organisations to become 
CPD homes in Australia

The Specialist Education Accreditation Committee 
completes the initial accreditation assessment based 
on a review of the organisation’s submission against 
the Criteria for AMC Accreditation of CPD Homes with 
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a view to making a recommendation on initial accredi-
tation to AMC Directors. 

AMC Directors grant initial accreditation if the submis-
sion demonstrates that the organisation meets the 
criteria, or that it substantially meets the criteria and 
setting conditions will lead to all criteria being met in a 
reasonable time.

Health Education and Training Institute

At their meeting on 26 October 2023 AMC Directors 
granted initial accreditation to Health Education and 
Training Institute, subject to satisfactory monitoring, 
up until completion of an accreditation assessment by 
an AMC assessment team.

Osler Technology

At their meeting on 26 October 2023 AMC Directors 
granted initial accreditation to Osler Technology, 
subject to satisfactory monitoring, up until completion 
of an accreditation assessment by an AMC assessment 
team.

Skin Cancer College Australasia

At their meeting on 26 October 2023 AMC Directors 
granted initial accreditation to Skin Cancer College 
Australasia, subject to satisfactory monitoring, up until 
completion of an accreditation assessment by an AMC 
assessment team.

On 26 October 2023 AMC Directors considered a 
further seven applications to become a CPD home and 
determined on the basis of an assessment against the 
Criteria that these applicants should not be accredited.

Accreditation assessments: accreditation 
of CPD homes 

Royal Australian and New Zealand College of 
Obstetricians and Gynaecologists

In July 2023 an AMC team completed an accreditation 
assessment of the Royal Australian and New Zealand 
College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists CPD 
home. AMC Directors, at their 13 December 2023 
meeting, resolved that:

(i)	 the accreditation of Royal Australian and 
New Zealand College of Obstetricians and 
Gynaecologists be granted accreditation as a CPD 
home for six years until 31 March 2030, subject to 
satisfying AMC monitoring requirements including 
monitoring submissions and criterion set out in the 
report.

Royal Australian and New Zealand College of 
Radiologists

In August 2023 an AMC team completed an accredi-
tation assessment Royal Australian and New Zealand 
College of Radiologists CPD home. AMC Directors, at 
their 13 December 2023 meeting, resolved that:

(i)	 the accreditation of Royal Australian and New 
Zealand College of Radiologists be granted 
accreditation as a CPD home for six years until 31 
March 2030, subject to satisfying AMC monitoring 
requirements including monitoring submissions 
and addressing criterion set out in the report.
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Accreditation assessments

Australian Medical Acupuncture College

In October 2023 an AMC team completed an accredita-
tion assessment of the Part 1 Course of the Australian 
Medical Acupuncture College. AMC Directors, at their 
21 March 2024 meeting, resolved that:

(i)	 the Australian Medical Acupuncture College Course 
Part 1 substantially meets the approved accredita-
tion standards;

(ii)	the Australian Medical Acupuncture College Course 
Part 1 be granted accreditation for six years until 
31 March 2030, subject to satisfying AMC moni-
toring requirements including monitoring submis-
sions and addressing accreditation conditions set 
out in the report; and

(iii)	the Australian Medical Acupuncture College will 
be required to submit an accreditation extension 
submission in 2029. Based on the accreditation 
extension submission, the AMC will consider if 
the College’s Course Part 1 continues to meet or 
substantially meet the accreditation standards and 
may extend accreditation by another four years 
until 31 March 2034. This takes accreditation to 
the full period of ten years the AMC may grant 
between assessments.

Programs for endorsement 
of registration of medical 
practitioners for cosmetic surgery 
The AMC has established a Cosmetic Surgery 
Accreditation Advisory Committee to oversee 
the establishment of the process for assessment 
and accreditation of programs of study leading to 
endorsement of registration for cosmetic surgery. The 
Committee is chaired by Associate Professor Jillian 
Sewell AM (who chaired the Project Advisory Group) 
and makes provisions for members with experience 
in AMC accreditation, medical educational expertise, 
and members with a background in, and knowledge of, 
health consumer issues; and an identified Aboriginal 
and/or Torres Strait Islander member. The Committee 
was established in March 2024 and undertook training 
in the Committee’s function. The Committee has yet to 
review an application for accreditation of a Programs 
for endorsement of registration of medical practi-
tioners for cosmetic surgery.

Assessment of programs leading 
to endorsement of registration 
of medical practitioners for 
acupuncture
The Specialist Education Accreditation Committee 
oversees the process for assessment and accreditation 
of programs leading to endorsement of registration 
of medical practitioners for acupuncture. There is one 
program of study approved by the Medical Board of 
Australia as a program leading to endorsement, the 
Australian Medical Acupuncture College Course Part 1 
including the Part 1 written and clinical examinations.

Based on recommendations from the Specialist 
Education Accreditation Committee and accreditation 
reports from the Committee, the AMC Directors make 
an accreditation decision on the program of study. 
The AMC informs the Medical Board of Australia 
(the Board) of Directors’ accreditation decisions and 
provides the accreditation report so that the Board is 
able to make a decision on approval of the accredited 
program of study as providing a qualification for the 
purposes of endorsement of registration.
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Assessment
The AMC Assessment business area is responsible for 
the assessment of international medical graduates 
seeking medical registration to practise in Australia. To 
achieve this, the Assessment team:

•	 partners with a range of subject matter experts 
such as medical educators, assessment experts 
and clinicians as well as stakeholders and staff to 
manage international medical graduate progress 
along the pathway to securing an AMC Certificate

•	 works collaboratively with medical schools and 
specialist colleges to deliver examinations at the 
AMC Test Centre in Melbourne as well as online 
and develops technologies, products, and services 
that ensure high quality assessment delivery; and

•	 relies on an evidence-based approach to exami-
nation quality improvement by using research and 
data analysis to improve examination procedures, 
policy, and assessment outcomes. 

•	 relies on an evidence-based approach to exami-
nation quality improvement by using research and 
data analysis to improve examination procedures, 
policy, and assessment outcomes. 

Assessment Committee
The Assessment Committee monitors the operation of 
the AMC examinations, including primary source verifi-
cation, and reviews the performance of the Multiple-
Choice Questionnaire (MCQ) examination, and the 
Clinical Examination and Workplace Based Assessment 
results. Several Panels and sub-groups report to the 
Committee, with a focus on the development of exam-
ination questions and scenarios, approving results and 
ongoing progress of the examinations and develop-
ment of assessment processes. 

Assessment Committee Membership as at 30 June 
2023:

	~ Professor Cheryl Jones – Chair
	~ Professor Amanda Barnard – Deputy Chair
	~ Dr Noreen Alqueza
	~ Professor John Barnard
	~ Assoc. Professor Amanda Dawson
	~Ms Christine Edwards
	~ Dr Justin Gladman
	~ Dr Peter Harris
	~ Dr Catherine Hickie
	~ Professor Nicky Hudson
	~ Professor Lisa Jackson Pulver AM
	~ Professor Philip Jones
	~ Professor Kichu Nair AM 
	~ Professor Lambert Schuwirth
	~Mr Tom Symonds
	~ Dr David Thomas
	~ Professor Josephine Thomas

Non-current members serving during 2023-24:

	~ Dr Aysha Akram
	~ Professor Liz Farmer
	~ Dr Mandeep Kalsi
	~ Emeritus Professor David Prideaux

Assessment Committee Chair

The AMC Directors appointed Professor Cheryl Jones 
as Chair of the Assessment Committee for a four-year 
term commencing 25 November 2023, at which time 
Emeritus Professor David Prideaux stepped down after 
eight years as Chair. 

Professor Jones was the Dean and Head of Sydney 
Medical School, University of Sydney, as well as Senior 
Staff Specialist, Infectious Diseases, Sydney Children’s 
Hospital Network (The Children’s at Westmead). From 
June 2024, she moved to take the role of Dean of 
the Faculty of Medicine and Health at the University 
of New South Wales (UNSW). She also serves as a 
Director for the Ramsay Health Research Foundation, 
and the Australian Academy of Health and Medical 
Sciences.
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Priorities 
In 2023-24 several projects were identified and under-
taken to align with the AMC’s strategic pillars. The 
major initiatives are set out below:

Create efficiency and quality 
improvement across assessment 
pathways

Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander Health 
Outcomes and Cultural Safety in Assessment Project

To enable the AMC to meet its strategic goals of 
ensuring culturally safe practice and improving 
Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander health 
outcomes, we have assembled a team and completed 
initial groundwork to launch the Aboriginal and/or 
Torres Strait Islander Health Outcomes and Cultural 
Safety in Assessment Project. 

Building on our previous successes in incorporating 
Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander perspectives 
into medical school standards, we now aim to extend 
this best practice to our own AMC assessments, stand-
ards and processes. This ensures a comprehensive and 
culturally safe approach across the entire spectrum of 
our medical education activities.

Project Purpose:

•	 Establish a Framework to implement cultural safety 
training and Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander 
Health Outcomes into assessment (exam content) 
and strategies across all aspects of the Standard 
Pathway (AMC examinations) to create culturally 
safe systems and ongoing learning.

Project Deliverables:

•	 Identify Cultural Safety training sessions and 
deliver to all AMC examination stakeholders and 
Assessment committee/panel members

•	 Implement a Cultural Safety framework in 
Assessment

•	 Embed Indigenous Health into examination content 
for the assessment of skills and knowledge (MCQ, 
Clinical Exam - online and in-person)

•	 Engage and partner with Aboriginal, and/or Torres 
Strait Islander organisations and networks

•	 Determine the Policy framework and principles 
with links to AMC Strategic pillars and AMC values.

•	 Promote and firmly embed culturally safe prac-
tice, health skills, and knowledge in the Standard 
Pathway (AMC examinations) by engaging 
Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander health 
professionals. 

•	 Ensure continued evaluation and development for 
improved outcomes on culturally safe and respon-
sive healthcare, with the priority of bettering 
Indigenous health outcomes in Australia.
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Project Advisory Group

A Project Advisory Group has been formed to collabo-
rate with and provide advice to the AMC on this work. 
Through this collaboration, the AMC aspires to create 
a sustainable framework that prioritises the health and 
well-being of Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander 
peoples by:

•	 Embedding Cultural Understanding: the groups’ 
knowledge and experience will help the AMC 
effectively integrate Aboriginal and/or Torres 
Strait Islander perspectives into our assessment 
processes, including MCQs, online and in-person 
clinical assessments, and new test centre 
development.

•	 Championing Cultural Safety: the groups’ expertise 
will assist in establishing culturally safe methods 
for assessing cultural safety within AMC assess-
ments. We aim to establish a robust framework 
for developing culturally safe and appropriate 
assessment content, ensuring governance, clear 
processes, and best practices in question writing.

•	 Building Strong Relationships: the AMC is 
committed to fostering long-term connections with 
Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander communi-
ties and organisations. The groups’ guidance will 
be essential in building and maintaining these vital 
networks.

•	 Delivering Culturally Safe Training: the AMC aims 
to equip our stakeholders, including international 
medical graduates, with the knowledge and skills 
to provide culturally safe healthcare. The groups’ 
expertise will assist in developing and delivering 
culturally appropriate training programs.

on a project to digitise this publication through an 
MCQ App containing 210 practice questions. A key 
benefit of the of the App is the provision of feedback 
on responses to the practice questions. The content 
for the App has been developed by question writers 
who contribute to the AMC MCQ test question bank 
and the questions are scheduled to be updated annu-
ally. The practice questions are reviewed by Aboriginal 
and/or Torres Strait Islander peoples to ensure they 
are culturally safe.

key assessment statistics for the 2023-24 year 

Update the delivery of AMC publications 
and resources

AMC MCQ App Project 

The AMC previously published a Handbook of 
Multiple-Choice Questions (MCQ) to assist interna-
tional medical graduates in preparing to take the AMC 
CAT MCQ examination. The AMC is currently working 



Statistics: AMC portfolio applications

Table 2: Number of requests for Primary Source Verification  

Qualification type 2022-23 2023-24 Variances

AMC Portfolio applications 9,356 10,371 (11%)

Additional qualifications added to portfolios 957 4,286 (348%)
Total qualifications verified 10,899 14,657 (35%)

Qualification type EPIC verified 
2022-23

EPIC verified 
2023-24 Variances

Primary qualifications 8,257 8,639

Postgraduate qualifications 2,642 2,908 (10%)
Total qualifications verified 10,899 11,547
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Table 1: Number of AMC Portfolio applications received and additional 
qualifications added 

Verification Services 
The Verifications Services team:

•	 reviews all international medical graduate applications for primary and postgrad-
uate and qualification verifications for completeness

•	 maintains the AMC qualifications portal which is accessed by Australian Specialist 
Colleges and Ahpra to verify medical student primary and postgraduate 
qualifications

•	 assists international medical graduates in establishing an AMC online portfolio, 
and

•	 updates international medical graduate verification status with the Educational 
Commission for Foreign Medical Graduates (ECFMG). 

An international medical graduate seeking registration in Australia and applying to 
complete the AMC examinations must firstly have attained an eligible medical qual-
ification granted by a medical school recognised by the AMC and listed in the World 
Directory of Medical Schools (WDoMS). The directory lists only medical schools 
that provide a complete or full program of instruction leading to a basic medical 
and surgery qualification; that is, a qualification that permits the holder to obtain a 
licence to practise as a medical doctor or physician.

The process of verifying international medical graduate qualifications, known as 
Primary Source Verification (PSV), was implemented by the AMC in 2006. PSV is 
designed to ensure the integrity of both basic and specialist medical qualifications, 
with verification services provided by the ECFMG to assist the AMC in confirming 
international medical credentials.  ECFMG now has a total of 2,165 medical institu-
tions in the e-verifications system.

In the 2023-24 reporting period a total of 10,371 portfolio applications were estab-
lished (an average of 199 applications per week). A total of 4,286 additional medical 
qualifications were added to international medical graduate portfolios. This is the 
highest volume of applications the AMC has received to date.



Table 3: Top Ten: country of birth cited in international medical graduate Portfolio 
applications 

2022-23 2023-24 Significant 
variances  

(>10%)Country Total Country Total

Sri Lanka 1,750 India 1,508 (16%)
United Kingdom 1,332 United Kingdom 1,505 (13%)
India 1,226 Sri Lanka 1,473 (20%)
Pakistan 588 Pakistan 964 (64%)
Philippines 508 Iran 484
Malaysia 470 Malaysia 476
Ireland 441 Philippines 468
Iran 437 Ireland 396
Nigeria 306 Nigeria 342 (12%)
Bangladesh 190 Bangladesh 301 (58%)
Total 7,248 Total 7,917

Table 4: Top Ten: country of primary qualifications verification completed 

2022-23 2023-24 Significant 
variances 

(>10%)Country Total Country Total

United Kingdom 1,257 United Kingdom 1,524 (21%)
Sri Lanka 1,184 Sri Lanka 964
India 723 India 907 (25%)
Ireland 468 Pakistan 794 (70%)
Pakistan 444 Philippines 499 (12%)
Philippines 441 Ireland 458
Iran 316 Iran 406 (28%)
Bangladesh 237 Bangladesh 388 (64%)
China 237 China 367 (55%)
Malaysia 230 Malaysia 294 (28%)
Total 5,537 6,601 (19%)

2022-23 2023-24 Significant 
variances 

(>10%)Country Total Country Total

United Kingdom 619 United Kingdom 1,051 (70%)
India 370 India 330
Sri Lanka 280 Sri Lanka 242
South Africa 116 Pakistan 136 (17%)
Iran 98 Iran 131 (34%)
Malaysia 80 South Africa 130 (63%)
USA 77 Philippines 78
Pakistan 60 Ireland 65
Nigeria 59 Malaysia 60
Philippines 55 USA 58

Total 1,814 2,281 (26%)

Table 5: Top Ten: Medical Schools
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Appendix A ECFMG list of top 100 medical schools

Table 6: Top Ten: countries of postgraduate training verification completed 

Country Medical School

Sri Lanka University of Peradeniya Faculty of Medicine

Sri Lanka University of Colombo Faculty of Medicine

Sri Lanka University of Sri Jayewardenepura Faculty of Medicine

Sri Lanka University of Kelaniya Faculty of Medicine

Sri Lanka University of Ruhuna Faculty of Medicine

Sri Lanka
Rajarata University of Sri Lanka Faculty of Medicine and 
Allied Sciences

Sri Lanka University of Jaffna Faculty of Medicine

Bangladesh Institute of Applied Health Sciences (IAHS)

United Kingdom Manchester Medical School

Malaysia Manipal University College Malaysia
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MyIntealth replacing the EPIC Report 
Portal

The Educational Commission for Foreign Medical 
Graduates (ECFMG) and the Foundation for 
Advancement of International Medical Education and 
Research (FAIMER) announced the creation of a new, 
overarching identity   in November 2021. 

MyIntealth is a new online environment for accessing 
services offered by Intealth and its members, ECFMG 
and FAIMER and has replaced the Electronic Portfolio 
of International Credentials (EPIC) Physician Portal in 
late 2023. MyIntealth consists of a portal for inter-
national medical graduates pursuing verification of 
medical credentials similar to the current EPIC verifica-
tion process.  

This change will not impact the verification services 
provided as ECFMG will continue to verify the authen-
ticity of credentials using their high-quality prima-
ry-source verification process and deliver reports to 
the AMC through a secure online system. 

ECFMG is working closely with the AMC on the 
processes involved, and the AMC has been under-
taking system works to transition the current EPIC 
verification process to the new MyIntealth process 
during 2024, with the ECFMG completion date now 
set for early 2025..  This transition will not change the 
current verifications process or affect any verification 
statuses obtained via EICS and/or EPIC. 

Once finalised, updates and information will be 
provided on the AMC website, AMC candidate portal, 
as well as both the Ahpra and Specialist Colleges 
portals.

Multiple Choice Question 
Examinations
The AMC Multiple Choice Question (MCQ) Examination 
assesses the medical knowledge of international 
medical graduates who attained an eligible medical 
qualification from a medical school listed in the World 
Directory of Medical Schools (WDoMS) and recognised 
by the AMC. The MCQ Examination, which is delivered 
as a Computer-Based Adaptive Test, forms the first 
examination component of the standard pathway. All 
international medical graduates are required to pass 
the MCQ Examination in order to progress on the 
pathway towards receiving an AMC Certificate and 
applying to the Medical Board of Australia for medical 
registration.

The MCQ Examination focuses on basic and applied 
medical knowledge across a wide range of topics 
and disciplines. International medical graduates are 
required to demonstrate:

•	 understanding of the disease process

•	 competency in clinical examination, diagnosis, 
investigation, therapy and management skills 

•	 an ability to exercise judgment and reasoning in 
distinguishing between the correct diagnosis and 
plausible alternatives, and

•	 the capacity to take a patient’s history, conduct 
a physical examination, formulate diagnostic 
and management plans, and communicate with 
patients, their families and other health workers.

The MCQ Examination is a test of the principles and 
practice of medicine in the fields of: Adult Health - 
Medicine; Adult Health - Surgery; Women’s Health 
- Obstetrics & Gynaecology; Child Health; Mental 
Health; and Population Health & Ethics. 

The multiple choice questions reflect common clinical 
conditions in the Australian community. 

To achieve a satisfactory level of performance, a candi-
date will require a knowledge of pathogenesis, clinical 
features, investigative findings, differential diagnosis, 
management and treatment.

MCQ Examination Centres

The AMC offers 10 examination centres in Australia 
and 373 internationally controlled examination facil-
ities across 29 countries, with 285 in the USA and a 
further 68 globally (Asia-Pacific, Europe, Middle East, 
and Africa)

Diagram: Map of MCQ Examination Centre locations
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Appendix B: MCQ examination Country of Training Statistics

Table 7: MCQ examination Statistics comparison 

2022-23 2023-24 Variances
Total international medical graduates 
undertaking examination

4,468 6,331 (+42%)

Presenting for the first time 2,987 4,278 (+43%)
Total passed 2,119 3,234 (+53%)
Total passed % 47% 51% (+4)

Statistics: MCQ Examinations 

In the 2023-24 reporting period a total of 6,331 MCQ Examinations were conducted 
by the AMC in Australia or in one of 373  examination facilities across 29 countries. 
There are 285 centres in the USA and a further 68 globally (Asia-Pacific & Europe, the 
Middle East and Africa). 

In response to the growing demand for standardised testing from international 
medical graduates, venues have been introduced in Malaysia (Kuala Lumpur) and Sri 
Lanka (Colombo) in 2024.

Table 8: Top Ten: countries of international medical graduates who have taken the 
MCQ examination by country of training

2022-23 2023-24 Significant 
variances 

(>10%)Country Total Country Total

Sri Lanka 890 Sri Lanka 1,219 (37%)
India 539 India 732 (36%)
Philippines 380 Philippines 564 (48%)
Pakistan 288 Pakistan 500 (74%)
China 288 China 397 (38%)
Bangladesh 254 Bangladesh 378 (49%)
Iran 242 Iran 320 (32%)
Malaysia 154 Malaysia 239 (55%)
Nigeria 110 Russia 168 (53%)
Russia 106 Nigeria 135 (27%)
Total 3,251 4,652 (43%)
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Diagram: Eligibility check to apply to AMC
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Diagram: AMC Standard Pathway
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Clinical Examinations
Once an international medical graduate has passed 
the AMC MCQ Examination they are eligible to apply 
to undertake the AMC Clinical Examination or, alter-
natively, participate in a Workplace Based Assessment 
program.

The AMC Clinical Examination assesses an interna-
tional medical graduate’s clinical competency and 
requires demonstration of clinical ability at the level 
of an Australian graduating final year medical student 
about to commence the (pre-registration) intern year. 

Examination content includes: 

•	 history taking

•	 physical examination

•	 diagnostic formulation; and

•	 management, counselling and education skills.

Clinical examinations are delivered in the format of 
an Objective Structured Clinical Examination (OSCE), 
consisting of 14 scored and 2 unscored stations 
(scenarios) which require the presence of an examiner 
and a simulated or real patient.
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From 2013 to 2020 all AMC clinical examinations were 
conducted at the purpose-built National Test Centre 
in Melbourne. The Centre was closed for examinations 
from March 2021 to March 2022 due to COVID restric-
tions. During this time, the AMC offered an online 
clinical examination format.

Due to the expiry of the lease for the Centre, the final 
in-person clinical examinations at the Centre were 
conducted in October 2023. The AMC is in the process 
of establishing a new AMC test centre in Melbourne, 
which will open in early 2025.

While the new centre is being established, only online 
clinical examinations are available.

Change to Clinical Exam pass mark

Following an extensive review, the AMC changed the 
pass mark for the AMC clinical exam from 10 out of 
14 stations to 9 out of 14 stations. This change took 
effect from 21 March 2024. The change in the pass 
mark is part of our continuous review of assessment 
to ensure that we maintain the highest possible 
standards in line with international benchmarks. The 
AMC recognises that international medical graduates 
play a critical role in the health care of Australian 
communities. We are committed to ensuring that we 
have timely, effective and efficient systems in place 
for international medical graduates who are seeking to 
practise medicine in Australia.



Table 9: Clinical examination statistics comparison

Appendix C Clinical examination Country of Training Statistics

2021-22 2022-23 Variances
Total International medical graduates 
undertaking examination

2,053 2,107

International medical graduates presenting 
for the first time

863 989 (15%)

Total passed 426 509 (19%)
Percentage passed 21% 24%

Statistics: Clinical Examinations 

In the 2023-24 reporting period the AMC conducted 126 clinical examination 
sessions, assessing 2,107 international medical graduates. Of these, 989 presented 
for the first time. A total of 509 passed the examination and qualified for the AMC 
Certificate. 

Table 10: Top Ten: countries of international medical graduates who have taken the 
clinical examination by country of training

2022-23 2023-24 Significant 
variances 

(>10%)Country Total Country Total

Sri Lanka 890 Sri Lanka 1,219 (37%)
India 539 India 732 (36%)
Philippines 380 Philippines 564 (48%)
Pakistan 288 Pakistan 500 (74%)
China 288 China 397 (38%)
Bangladesh 254 Bangladesh 378 (49%)
Iran 242 Iran 320 (32%)
Malaysia 154 Malaysia 239 (55%)
Nigeria 110 Russia 168 (53%)
Russia 106 Nigeria 135 (27%)
Total 3,251 4,652 (43%)

Workplace Based Assessment
The workplace based assessment (WBA) pathway provides international medical 
graduates with an alternative assessment pathway to the AMC Clinical Examination 
and leads to the award of an AMC Certificate. In the WBA pathway, international 
medical graduates are assessed using the AMC Computer Adaptive Test (CAT) 
Multiple Choice Question (MCQ) Examination, followed by a 6 to 12 month program 
of workplace based assessment of clinical skills and knowledge by an AMC-accredited 
provider.

As the WBA program assesses candidates in the workplace it allows international 
medical graduates to demonstrate their ability to integrate clinical knowledge and 
skills as a basis for effective clinical judgments and decisions within their day to day 
work.

WBA programs must use the following assessment methods with standardised 
national assessment forms: Case Based Discussions, Mini Clinical Examinations 
(Mini-CEX),  and Multi-Source Feedback from medical colleagues and other health 
practitioners.

WBA Provider Accreditation

WBA programs are provided by health services accredited by the AMC.  Four new 
providers received initial accreditation during 2023-24.  

In the 2023-24 reporting period, a total of 399 candidate submitted applications to 
providers for a WBA program were received of which 9 applications were rejected by 
the AMC. 315 candidate assessments are in progress.    

A total of 17 accredited WBA providers assessed 286 international medical gradu-
ates, with a total of 285 completing their WBA program to a satisfactory standard 
and qualified for the AMC Certificate. 
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Table 11: WBA pass rates

2022-23 2023-24
Significant 
Variances 

(>10%)

Total international medical graduates 
passing the Workplace Based Assessment

206 285 13%

Total international medical graduates failed 
the Workplace Based Assessment

1 1

Statistics: WBA

Table 12: Breakdown of international medical graduates assessed through the WBA 
Program by provider

WBA Provider
Total Passes Significant 

Variances 
(>10%)2022-23 2023-24

South Western Sydney Local Health District 10 18 (80%)
Central Coast Local Health District 24 18
Central Queensland Hospital and Health 
Services (NEW)

- 6

Flinders Rural Health South Australia 3 2
Hunter New England Local Health District 30 44 (47%)
Illawarra Shoalhaven Local Health District 12 16 (33%)
Joondalup Health Campus (NEW) - 1
Latrobe Regional Hospital 7 9 (29%)
Launceston General Hospital 37 51 (38%)
Mid North Coast Local District 10 7
Mildura Base Public Hospital (NEW) - 3
Monash Health 13 11
Northern Adelaide Local Health Network 2 15 (650%)
Northern NSW Local Health District (NEW) - 3
Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Services 12 12
WA Country Health Service 31 43 (39%)
Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service 15 26 (73%)
Total 209 285 (36%)
Total

Appendix D: WBA Statistics
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Diagram: Location of Workplace Based Assessment accredited providers as 
at June 2024

TAS

	� Launceston General Health 

WA

	� Rockingham General Hospital

	� Joondalup Health Campus

	� Armadale Kalamunda Group

	� WA Country Health 

SA

	� Limestone Coast Local 
Health Network

	� Northern Adelaide Local 
Health Network 

VIC

	� Mildura Base Public Hospital

	� Latrobe Regional Hospital 

	� Monash Health

NSW

	� Mid North Coast Local Health District (Kempsey 
District Hospital) 

	� Nepean Blue Mountains Local Health District - NEW

	� Hunter New England Local Health District 

	� Northern New South Wales Local Health District 

	� Central Coast Local Health District 

	� South Western Sydney Local Health District

	� Illawarra Shoalhaven Local Health District 

	� Western Sydney Local Health District 

Qld

	� Mackay Hospital and Health Service  

	� Metro North Hospital and Health Service 

	� Gold Coast Hospital and Health Service 

	� Wide Bay Hospital and Health Services 

	� Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Services 

	� Central Queensland Hospital and Health Service

	� Darling Downs Hospital and Health Services - NEW 

NT

	� Top End Regional Health
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The financial statements were prepared according 
to the Australian Accounting Standards—Simplified 
Disclosures, Interpretations of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board and were audited by 
Nexia Duesburys. The auditors gave an unqualified 
audit report after doing an independent external 
audit on the value of AMC’s assets, liabilities owed, 
and income and expenses recognised as well as a 
review of key financial controls particularly those that 
prevent and/or mitigate the risk of fraud. Among the 
documents reviewed by the auditors were meeting 
papers for AMC’s Committees to ensure all matters of 
relevance to the financial statements were identified 
and reported in the financial statements.

Annual Financial Report
The AMC 2023-24 Annual Financial Report includes the 
components required by the Australian Charities and 
Not-for-profits Commission Act, including the: 

•	 Directors’ report, including the auditor’s independ-
ence declaration

•	 Audited financial statements

•	 statement of financial position 

•	 statement of profit and loss 

•	 statement of cash flows 

•	 statement of changes in equity 

•	 notes to the financial statements

•	 Directors’ declaration that the financial statements 
comply with accounting standards, give a true and 
fair view, there are reasonable grounds to believe 
the company will be able to pay its debts, the 
financial statements have been made in accord-
ance with the Corporations Act, and

•	 Independent auditor’s report.

Finance ,  Audit  and Investments

AMC Finances
The main objectives of AMC financial operating 
strategy are to:

•	 optimise all current revenue streams 

•	 review and carefully manage all expenditure and 
maintain an efficient cost structure

•	 invest AMC assets appropriately with ethical and 
sustainable considerations in mind.

The 2023-24 financial year saw strong improvement 
in AMC’s performance with a greater number of 
candidates applying for verification and MCQ exami-
nations. This increase has been attributed, in part, to 
candidates increased willingness to travel and work in 
Australia resulting in increased flow of international 
medical graduates (IMGs) through AMC’s assessment 
pathways. 
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Financial summary 2023-24 compared to 2022-23
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2023-24 2022-23
Total revenue and other income 44,225,488 32,499,514
Total expenses 32,777,570 29,026,212
Surplus/(Deficit) 11,447,918 3,473,302
Revaluation of land and buildings - (114,167)
Total comprehensive Surplus/(Loss) 11,447,918 2,348,660

Total current assets 43,839,001 31,520,369
Total non-current assets 17,551,287 18,337,769
Total assets 61,390,288 49,858,138

Total current liabilities 19,589,830 17,951,302
Total non-current liabilities 5,112,456 6,666,752
Total liabilities 24,702,286 24,618,054
Net assets 36,688,002 25,240,084
Total equity 36,688,002 25,240,084

Table: Financial summary comparison
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•	 The AMC’s long term investment reserve continued 
to generate income and capital growth for future 
operational and working capital requirements. The 
return target is measured over a rolling 5-year period 
and is set at CPI + 3%. In the current year, markets 
improved such that AMC has met its long term 
target.

•	 Revision of AMC’s investment portfolio such that 
we now have three investment categories: short-
term, medium-term and long-term all of which have 
different investment strategies. The introduction of 
a medium-term investment category has resulted 
in more investment income being earned with the 
portfolio mostly implemented by June 2024. 

•	 The commencement of corporate system upgrades 
(Finance, People and Culture and Travel) to improve 
efficiencies across the organisation and improve the 
way in which data is collected and analysed. 

Expenditure has increased during the year with 
increased activity as detailed in this annual report 
including the delivery of the exams with more candi-
dates going through AMC’s pathways, the National 
e-Portfolio system for prevocational doctors, the 
Specialist Medical Programs Standards Review, the 
International Medical Graduate Experiences survey, 
and the Accreditation of Continuing Professional 
Development Homes. This has meant more staff have 
been hired which has seen employment expenses 
increase. While video conferencing continues to be 
used for meetings, there has been an increase in travel 
costs with more meetings held in-person compared to 
the previous year.

Other key financial achievements include:



Solvency
The AMC has maintained a strong solvency position 
over the current year with strong cash flows improving 
the solvency position from the previous year. As at 30 
June 2024, AMC’s solvency position (as measured by 
current assets divided by current liabilities) is 2.24, an 
increase from 1.76 the previous year.

Cash flow is monitored on a monthly basis including 
performing regular forecasts to better plan for 
expected cash needs against expected cash receipts 
which can sometimes be cyclical in nature.

Management has a strong focus on ensuring cash is 
managed effectively including generating interest 
income on cash balances at competitive rates, where 
possible, using a broker to identify best market rates 
available for short-term deposits with maturities 
between 3 and 12 months. Alternative investment 
options are also considered if funds are not needed 
within the business for the next 12 months, with any 
options (which may generate a higher return) being 
assessed against the risk of negative returns. 

Diagram: AMC Solvency position 2010-2024
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Investments
The AMC maintains medium and long term invest-
ment reserves to generate income and capital growth 
for future operational and working capital require-
ments. The AMC Investment Reserve Advisory Group 
(IRAG) oversees the investment which is managed by 
Macquarie Private Bank. 

The medium and long term investment reserves and 
the role of IRAG are directed by the AMC’s Investment 
Reserve Policy. 

The current asset allocations are:

•	 Medium term: 15% growth assets and 85% defen-
sive assets (for requirements expected within the 
next 1-5 years)

•	 Long term: 75% growth assets and 25% defensive 
assets (for requirements expected beyond 5 years).

There is also an ethical investment overlay for active 
investment managers. 

The target for the reserves is CPI + 1.5% over a rolling 
5 year period for the medium term category and CPI 
+ 3.5% over a rolling 7 year period. It is accepted that 
in the pursuit of long-term objectives, occasionally 
negative returns will occur. 

The AMC recognises its important responsibility to 
pursue positive environmental, social and governance 
(ESG) change through its investments.

In selecting its investments, the AMC applies ESG 
criteria to seek out those that align with the United 
Nations’ 17 Sustainable Development Goals while 
providing good financial returns, attractive investment 

AMC long-term investment reserve 12 month 
performance

Portfolio valuation 1/7/2023 $11.8m

Market movements (unrealised growth) $1.1m

Net Contributions $7.1m

Portfolio valuation 30/6/2024 $20.0M

Portfolio Income $336k

Franking credits (indicative) $43k
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portfolio characteristics and appropriate management 
fees.

The AMC pursues ESG criteria in its investments 
through the use of exclusion/inclusion, integration and 
impact:

•	 Positively include or negatively exclude exposure to 
specific holdings, investments or industries based 
on their alignment or misalignment with stated 
values, ethics and beliefs. Specifically, there will 
be no direct investment in companies that derive 
material revenues (more than 5%) from any of the 
following:

•	 Tobacco production

•	 Gambling and gaming

•	 Defence and weapons

•	 Fossil-fuel production

•	 integrate ESG factors into the investment research 
and selection process

•	 invest for impact in areas aligned with the AMC’s 
objectives and strategic priorities, i.e., health and 
wellbeing, positive outcomes for Aboriginal and/or 
Torres Strait Islander and Māori communities.

The AMC acknowledges that the ESG investment 
sector as a whole is still developing and therefore 
seeks to achieve at least 50% of its portfolio meets its 
ESG investment criteria.



The funds environmental impact in 
action

The Impax Sustainable Leaders Fund (the Fund) seeks 
to achieve sustainable, above market returns over the 
longer term by investing globally in companies active 
in Environmental Markets. These markets address a 
number of long-term macroeconomic themes: growing 
populations, rising living standards, increasing urban-
isation, rising consumption, and depletion of limited 
natural resources. 

Impax’s Classification of environmental markets

The Fund seeks companies providing a positive impact 
through environmental solutions and net carbon 
reductions to help lead the transition to a sustainable 
global economy, are leaders in environmental markets, 
and offer resource efficiency.

AMC investment impacts based on the $642,144 invested in the fund for one year as at 31 December 2023*

72t CO2e avoided  
greenhouse gas emmissions

Equivalent to 51 cars off the 
road

24 megalitres water treated

Equivalent to 188 house-
holds' annual water 
consumption

10 MWh renewable  
energy generated

Equivalent to 3 households' 
annual electricity consumption

45 tonnes material  
recovered/waste treated

Equivalent to 46 house-
holds' annual waste output

* There can be no assurance that results in the future 
will be comparable to the results presented herein. 
Impax impact calculations are based on strategy AUM 
and portfolio holdings as at 31 December 2023. Please 
refer to the Methodology for details including sources 
for the households and cars taken off the street 
equivalencies data used in our calculations in the IMPA 
Impact Report 2024.

The Impax Sustainable Leaders Fund’s Beyond Financial 
Returns Report 2024 can be found here.
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Appendix A: ECFMG list of top 100 medical schools

Summary of the schools with the highest volumes of applications or verifications of primary qualifications. 

Appendices

107 Australian Medical Council Ltd 2023-24 Annual Report



Appendix B – MCQ Country of Training Report

Breakdown of the international medical graduates who have taken the MCQ examination by country of training.
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Appendix B – MCQ Country of Training Report Continued
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Appendix B – MCQ Country of Training Report Continued
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Appendix B – MCQ Country of Training Report Continued
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Appendix C: Clinical Examination (Online) Country of Training Statistics

Breakdown of international medical graduates by examination attempt and country of training. 
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Appendix C: Clinical Examination (Online) Country of Training Statistics Continued
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Appendix C: Clinical Examination (Online) Country of Training Statistics Continued
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Appendix C: Clinical Examination (In Person) Country of Training Statistics
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Appendix C: Clinical Examination (In Person) Country of Training Statistics Continued
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Appendix D: WBA Statistics 

Breakdown of international medical graduates assessed through the WBA Program by country of training and provider.

117 Australian Medical Council Ltd 2023-24 Annual Report



Appendix D: WBA Statistics  Continued

Australian Medical Council Ltd 2023-24 Annual Report 118



Appendix D: WBA Statistics  Continued
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Appendix D: WBA Statistics  Continued
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Appendix D: WBA Statistics  Continued

121 Australian Medical Council Ltd 2023-24 Annual Report



Appendix D: WBA Statistics  Continued
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The Australian Medical Council is an organisation whose work impacts across the lands of 
Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand.

The AMC acknowledges the Aboriginal and/or Torre Strait Islander Peoples as the orginal 
Australians and the Māori People as the tangata whenua (Indigenous) Peoples of Aotearoa.

We recognise them as the traditional custodians of knowledge for these lands. We pay our 
respects to them and to their Elders past, present and emerging, and we recognise their 
enduring connection to these lands and honour their ongoing connection to those lands,  

its waters and sky. 
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